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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.2. A business or executive 

summary of the Offeror’s firm. Inclusion 
of historical and financial information 

about the firm is encouraged. Section 
is limited to three (3) pages, exempting 

financials.

4.0.1.2. Executive Summary

Hensel Phelps in association with American Maintenance is excited to submit our 
custodial services qualifications for Beaufort County School District. We know that 
physical environments have a direct impact on students and faculty alike, so our 
custodial services team works effectively to deliver and maintain healthy, clean, and 
safe buildings. We focus on identifying what is needed to help our clients successfully 
reach and exceed their goals in a more cost-effective manner without compromising 
quality or performance. Whether providing safe and welcoming classroom buildings or 
delivering clean athletic facility spaces, our team’s award winning facilities help students 
and teachers learn, grow, explore and discover. 

Committed Team
Our team is comprised of Hensel Phelps Services in association with American 
Maintenance (AMI) in a strategic alliance and LLC. With similar firm cultures, custodial 
management procedures and  a desire to find the right partnership, Hensel Phelps and 
AMI have joined forces to provide superior custodial services for BCSD. 

The proactive custodial services for the Beaufort County School District (BCSD) is vital 
to the daily experience of all students, parents, faculty, administration and visitors to 
school facilities. The Hensel Phelps and American Maintenance Team (Hensel Phelps/
AMI) understands the vision of the school’s leadership and the detailed requirements of 
the Custodial Services Request for Proposal (RFP). The District’s satisfaction is the 
foundation upon which the Hensel Phelps/AMI team’s success will be evaluated. 
The high performing professionals at Hensel Phelps/AMI want to distinguish BCSD as a 
premier Custodial Services customer and as a reference showcase account.

Scott Peterman will serve as the Hensel Phelps/AMI Regional/Transition Manager. 
He has over 20 years of experience providing Facilities Management, Maintenance 
and Custodial services, with a track record of streamlining procedures and generating 
best practices that increase efficiency, lower program costs, and deliver exceptional 
performance results. More specifically, Scott previously worked for BCSD as the 
Director of Maintenance from 2009 to 2012, managing 40 buildings with a combined 
3-million square feet, a labor force of 40 staff, an account budget over $2.5 million, 
and assisted the District with the implementation of their total facilities budget of 
over $25 million. He brings established District relationships, unmatched familiarity with 
BCSD operations and schedules, as well as a steadfast desire and commitment to deliver 
a successful Custodial Services Contract.

The added value of an 80+ -year 
old company [Hensel Phelps] 

that has been planning, building 
and managing some of the 

nation’s landmark buildings and 
facilities cannot be overstated. 

As we continue to grow and 
consider expanding our footprint 
to other locations – we do it with 
confidence in the partnership 

and strategic alliances Hensel 
Phelps offers.” 

Ariella Diamond, Director of 
Operations and Administration,  

Avenues: The World School 
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Given Hensel Phelps’ extensive 83-year history of financial and operating success, 
coupled with its strong backlog and robust pipeline of new opportunities, the company 
anticipates continued financial growth and projections in high-margin opportunities for 
2020 and beyond. Additionally, Hensel Phelps has a unique and considerable position 
in the industry with the ability to deliver premiere Plan. Build. Manage. and Facility Life 
Solutions, through a single-source, at an exceptional value for their clients. This, along 
with Hensel Phelps’ attractive industry reputation, dedicated safety culture, long-
lasting client relationships, and precise delivery of high-quality services will continue to 
strengthen and accelerate the company’s portfolio and its planned financial projections.

Transitional Solutions Provider
Hensel Phelps/AMI has the distinction of 83 consecutive years in the planning, building 
and managing education campuses, corporate campuses, and other complex facilities 
and a successful record of transitioning these types of facility operations. Hensel Phelps/
AMI delivers a proven transition process that seamlessly assists in the transition from 
one service provider to another for our education customers as evidenced by further 
explanation in Section 4.0.1.7. TRANSITION PLAN.

The custodial services contract is an important part of the continued 
growth of BCSD and an opportunity to reinforce your commitment of 

offering safe and healthy education environments. The Hensel Phelps/AMI 
Team ensures all BCSD campus buildings and spaces are managed in a 
consistent fashion, provide increased accountability, and provide a high 

level of customer service satisfaction for a lasting impression throughout 
the District.  We are committed to our partnership, working closely with 

BCSD, and striving to optimize your facilities. 

“[Hensel Phelps] was always 
professional, we never heard ’no’ 
from them. [Hensel Phelps] acted 
as owner’s advocates....We really 
got to work as a team and created 

team solutions.”

Chandler Eason, Director of Major 
Capital Projects,

Stanford University
SLAC National Accelerator 

Laboratory
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.3   Proposer has been providing 

custodial services to (please check 
“√” next to each appropriate type 

of building(s) serviced and indicate 
number of years’ experience for each 

checked service area): 
• K-12 school districts for _ years

• Publicly owned and operated facilities 
for _ years

• Privately owned and operated 
facilities for _ years

4.0.1.3. Custodial Services Experience
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team has been purposely built for the BCSD Custodial program. 
The team members, Hensel Phelps and American Maintenance, pose complimentary 
experience, expertise, and abilities that fully address the required qualifications to ensure 
the successful delivery of the scope of services for the District. Hensel Phelps/AMI have 
been providing custodial services for a wide range of client types and specifically for the 
for the types of facilities indicated below, as requested, along with the number of years 
performing service.

 K-12 school districts for 35 years
 Publicly owned and operated facilities for 35 years
 Privately owned and operated facilities for 60 years

Understanding the unique nature of a fully operational District is imperative to the 
successful delivery of these facility services. The Hensel Phelps/AMI philosophy begins 
with implementing critical solutions to common inherent challenges in the janitorial/
custodial industry, encompassing: 

	� Proper management – a management plan to provide BCSD with the appropriate 
levels of support to ensure the very best from the Team’s operation; 

	� Employee retention – a plan that provides a competitive wage / incentive structure 
that will give the team a competitive edge in our effort to recruit the best in the industry 
and avoid employee turnover; 

	� Training and development – a quality control system that lowers levels of waste and 
rework, cutting costs, improving productivity, and production efficiency; and

	� Innovation – the Hensel Phelps/AMI Team continues to lead the way in this rapidly 
evolving janitorial/custodial industry for science-based cleaning systems to improve 
efficiency and environmental health and safety.
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Customer Reference No. 5
Name of School District / 
Customer St. John’s University

Contact Person and Title

Contact Email Address

Phone Number

Dates of Project / Years of 
Service April 2017 - Present

$ / Year $1.7 million per year

Service Provided

American Maintenance: Custodial services for both the 
athletic facilities and residential halls. Athletic custodial 
services include pre-, during and post-event cleanup, 
as well as daily maintenance of locker rooms, training 
room, coaches’ offices and meeting rooms. Maintain 
residence halls, inclusive of summer dorm room 
turnovers. This consists of turning over and preparing 
over 1,000 suites in preparation for the summer 
camps, conferences, and an additional conversion for 
returning students in the Fall. Also provide grounds 
services for the residential area.  

Handle 10,000 events per year requiring various types 
of setups in thirteen (13) different locations / venues. 
Support approximately 2-3,000 mid-size to large-scale 
events annually. The attendance ranges from 100 to 
5,000+ guests. The venue size varies from Ballroom 
to larger, including a professional-events arena, and a 
large capacity gymnasium.

St. John’s University
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.5 Resumes or business 

experience summary and manufacturer 
certifications of Project Manager, 

Project Staff and other parties who will 
provide services for the project and 

afterwards.

4.0.1.5. Bidder Project Manager and Project Team
Hensel Phelps/AMI have assembled a first-class team of experienced professionals to 
manage the Custodial Services for the Beaufort County School District. This team brings 
a distinctive focus on Education client satisfaction along with tremendous expertise in 
education and corporate facility operations to deliver best value, high-quality performance. 
Every individual has been assigned to a position which features their strengths and 
capabilities in managing long-term, future-forward education facilities, while operating 
seamlessly and aligning performance within the culture of the District.

The project team that is being proposed for BCSD has been selected based on previous 
experience delivering services for Education and K-12 customers as well as their past 
performance working and collaborating together as a team. Hensel Phelps /AMI excels at 
customizing organizational structures and teams to best suit the needs of each client. 

In addition, this team has the familiarity with South Carolina codes, practices, control 
agencies, legal requirements and policies applicable to the District program. Resumes for 
the Hensel Phelps/AMI Team are presented on the following pages. 

Hensel Phelps Proposed Team

Team Members

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM 

	� Glen Miller, Managing Member
	� Chris Alex, Managing Member
	� Joel Douglass, Executive Director - Hensel Phelps

PROJECT TEAM  

	� Scott Peterman – Regional / Transition Manager
	� Daniel Major, CFM, FMP – Regional Manager
	� TBD - Project Manager  

(Hensel Phelps | American Maintenance will interview current contractor 
management to fulfill this role upon Notice to Proceed prior to interviewing external 
candidates)

	� Mark Arnold – Start-up / Transition Manager
	� Toby Rees – Director of Human Resources 
	� Kate Crawford – Director of Safety and Health
	� David Milford, LEED AP – Financial Controls

“The Services personnel were 
so integrated and seamless with 

SLAC, that the building occupants 
didn’t know if they were Hensel 

Phelps or SLAC employees.”

Mark Wise
Building Manager

Stanford University, SLAC National 
Accelerator Laboratory

“Hensel Phelps project staffing 
was exceptional and the staff was 
very cooperative working with the 

Government and consultants.”

Ed Myers, GSA Project Executive,
Social Security Administration

National Support Center





Custodial Services RFP No. 21-005   |  5. Project Manager & Project Team  |  Page  12

Daniel Major, CFM, FMP
Regional Manager 

Education	
MBA, Business Administration,
University of South Carolina (Pending August 2020)

B.S., Facilities & Property Management,
Brigham Young University - Provo

B.A., Minor, Marriott School of Management
Brigham Young University

Years with Hensel Phelps: 1 Year	

Years in Industry:  19 Years

Licenses / Certifications
Certified Facility Manager® (CFM), 
International Facility Management Association

Facility Management Professional (FMP), 
International Facility Management Association

Licensed Real Estate Agent, South Carolina LLR

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Avenues: The World School  |  New York, NY   
Regional Manager (East) | Transition Manager

	� Scope: Facility Services, Operations & Maintenance, 
Technical and Custodial Services, and Development and 
Implementation of a Capital Program Management Plan

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering facility 
services and solutions, on a five-year contract, for the 
private school comprised of 320,000 SF in two buildings. 

Harlem Village Academies (HVA)  |  New York, NY    
Regional Manager (East) | Transition Manager

	� Scope: Full Operations & Maintenance Services, and 
deliver technical, landscape, custodial services and 
develop a vendor management program for HVA

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering a facilities 
management program for HVA which is a part of a network 
of three elementary, two middle, and one high school

Various Schools: Imagine Charter Schools  |  Phoenix, AZ  
North Wasco County School District  |  The Dales, OR
Northland College |  Ashland, WI   
Transition Manager 

	� Scope: Full Transitional Services
	� Mr. Major was responsible for the Transition through 

Stabilization of new contracts, including human 
resources, technical delivery, budget development, and 
implementation of core processes

Keystone College  |  La Plume, PA   
General Manager / Director of Facilities 

	� Scope: Full Facilities Solutions Services
	� Managed a staff of 30 employees and a $2.2 million 

operating budget; oversight for additional services of 
vending, event management, mail room services

As Regional Manager, Mr. Major brings significant expertise 
and experience in Education building operations, maintenance, 
custodial, and in new building / program set-up and transition 
efforts. 

Prior to joining Hensel Phelps, Mr. Major was the Director and 
General Manager for a collegiate customer at a historic campus 
and his focus was delivering the highest quality of Facility 
Maintenance and Management services possible. 

In addition, Mr. Major was the Assistant Director / Operations 
Manager for a multi-site, state university and successfully 
managed the maintenance and custodial operations, which 
included overseeing 40+ employees (nine different shops), 
covering two million square feet, on 600 acres. 

In his diverse background in the facilities management industry, 
as a District Manager, Mr. Major focused on developing and 
maintaining a portfolio of direct client relationships within the IFM 
model, across the country.  In his role as a Project Manager, Dan 
directed multiple concurrent projects from start to finish to achieve 
exceptional quality and to ensure the customers’ interests were 
protected. A particular area of focus was managing capital renewal 
and deferred maintenance projects. Dan is also specialized in 
computerized maintenance management systems (CMMS) and 
facility condition assessment (FCA) platforms that support a 
unique business model and competitive advantage. 
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Daniel Major, CFM, FMP (Continued)
Transition Manager 

Mr. Major’s Certified Facility Manager (CFM) certification is provided below. 
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Mark Arnold
Start-Up/Transition Manager

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
North & South Carolina Region - GCA  |  Varies   
Regional Director of Operations

	� Manage 25+ K-12 & Higher Education custodial/grounds/
maintenance accounts successfully throughout North & 
South Carolina. Met and exceeded budget expectations 
annually by over 12% annually while retaining 94% of 
client customer base. 

	� Successful multi-site project planning and execution during 
summer and winter periods. Met budgetary requirements 
of same while delivering solid customer service delivery of 
programs.

South Carolina Region - GCA  |  Varies   
Regional Director

	� Managed multiple K-12 & Higher Education custodial/
grounds/maintenance accounts successfully throughout 
South Carolina. Met and exceeded budget expectations 
annually by over 10% annually while retaining 98% of 
client customer base. 

Southern Management/ABM  |  Multiple Locations 
Branch Manager

	� Managed two districts—Columbia SC with 75 accounts 
and over 800 employees and Charleston SC which 
included 45 accounts with over 600 employees. 

	� Had complete management of all accounts as well as 
responsible for hiring, termination, and training of new 
employees.  

Education	
Associates Degree in Business Administration			 
West Virginia University

Years with Hensel Phelps: anticipated October 2020 start date

Years in Industry:  35 Years

As Start-up/Transition Manager for the BCSD Custodial Services 
project, the subject matter expert (SME) will be 100% dedicated 
to the District and leads the entire Hensel Phelps team on a 
daily basis. This SME will have daily communications with select 
members of the BCSD staff. 

Mr. Arnold will be responsible for providing direction and support 
in regards to all facilities operations, their critical property assets, 
and all personnel involved and assigned to the project and each 
of the District facilities included in this contract. 

Prior to joining the Hensel Phelps team, this SME was the 
Regional Director of Operations in the greater North and South 
Carolina area for another facility management provider and his 
focus was delivering facility services for local K-12 schools and 
their various campuses.  

Unavailable
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Toby Rees
Director of Human Resources | Corporate Resources

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Avenues: The World School  |  New York, NY    
Director of Human Resources

	� Scope: Facility Services, Operations & Maintenance, 
Technical and Custodial Services, and Development and 
Implementation of a Capital Program Management Plan

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering facility 
services and solutions, on a five-year contract, for the 
private school comprised of 320,000 SF in two buildings. 

Harlem Village Academies (HVA)  |  New York, NY    
Director of Human Resources

	� Scope: Full Operations & Maintenance Services, and 
deliver technical, landscape, custodial services and 
develop a vendor management program for HVA

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering a facilities 
management program for HVA which is a part of a network 
of three elementary, two middle, and one high school 

Cornell Tech Campus  |  New York, NY   
Director of Human Resources

	� Scope: Development & Management of an Outsourcing 
Strategy for IFM Services; Transition to Stabilized 
Occupancy (TSO)

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team established facility 
standards for the new campus, oversight of the 
procurement of an IFM to operate and maintain the 
campus, provided ongoing management oversight and 
contract performance review, and provided transitional 
solutions to seamlessly operate each facility on the 
710,000 SF new campus.

Education	
Juris Doctorate, Law 
Creighton University School of Law, NE

MBA, Managerial Communication, 
Business Administration and Management
Bellevue University, NE

MBA, Masters of Business Administration, 
Business / Corporate Communications
Bellevue University, NE

B.S., Biology,
University of Mary, ND

Years with Hensel Phelps: 1 Years	

Years in Industry:  21 Years

As Hensel Phelps’ Director of Human Resources, Ms. Rees is 
a labor relations professional and handles all areas of human 
resources in addition to negotiations, policy writing, training, 
project management and managing people. Her experience 
includes managing employees in large and small group settings 
in addition to office environments. 

Toby has written training materials and has extensive experience 
in communicating between all levels of employees providing 
communication supporting the institutions’ internal and external 
communications. She will provide a copy of the Hensel Phelps 
Employee handbook to each new facilities department employee 
at Beaufort County School District detailing our personnel 
policies and procedures. 
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Kate Crawford
Director of Safety and Health | Corporate Resources

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Avenues: The World School  |  New York, NY     
Director of Safety and Health

	� Scope: Facility Services, Operations & Maintenance, 
Technical and Custodial Services, and Development and 
Implementation of a Capital Program Management Plan

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering facility 
services and solutions, on a five-year contract, for the 
private school comprised of 320,000 SF in two buildings. 

Harlem Village Academies (HVA)  |  New York, NY   
Director of Safety and Health

	� Scope: Full Operations & Maintenance Services, and 
deliver technical, landscape, custodial services and 
develop a vendor management program for HVA

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering a facilities 
management program for HVA which is a part of a network 
of three elementary, two middle, and one high school 

Stanford University Linear Accelerator Center (SLAC) |  
Menlo Park, CA     
Director of Safety and Health

	� Scope: Facility Management Consulting and Transition to 
Stabilized Occupancy (TSO) Services

	� Hensel Phelps Services team delivered a complete FOM 
program manual for the customer, that included CMMS 
data loading and maintenance, to make the building Day 
One Ready for management, students, and faculty. The 
team did this by ensuring reliable operation of building 
systems, consistent resolution to issues that arise post-
construction, and the development of an O&M Program.

Education	
Project Management,
Portland State University

B.S. History / Political Science,
Illinois Central School

Years with Hensel Phelps: 4 Years	

Years in Industry:  22 Years

Licenses / Certifications
Executive Program in Safety Management Certificate, 
The American Society of Safety Engineers

As the Director of Safety and Health, Ms. Crawford is responsible 
for managing and administering Hensel Phelps’ site-specific 
safety and health program, risk management and loss control, 
and heavy participation in preliminary job planning conferences 
to establish site-specific safety plans for all new contracts. She is 
also responsible for and excellent at representing the team in all 
dealings with OSHA and conducting periodic safety inspections 
of jobsites, including subcontractor operations and selfwork. 
As a natural educator determined to lead others to excellence, 
Kate is a master at assessing training needs and coordinating 
appropriate safety training as well as administering Hensel 
Phelps’ Safety Accountability for Everyone (SAFE) program.

Ms. Crawford draws on 20+ years of concentration in 
Occupational Health, Safety, and Environment.  Prior to joining 
Hensel Phelps, Ms. Crawford was the Director of Safety 
& Health Regulatory Services for the Associated General 
Contractors (AGC) of California. At AGC, she assessed key State 
regulatory and legislative issues and promulgated responsible 
and fair standards for Employer programs and Worker safety. 
Ms. Crawford established consensus on policy priorities and 
strategies on emerging issues. 

Her strong working relationships with trade, professional and 
allied organizations, educational institutions, and others who 
influence public policy at the state level bolstered her strategic 
thinking skill.  From her safety management experience within 
complex projects, Ms. Crawford understands the vital attention 
required for occupied environments.
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David Milford, LEED AP
Financial Controls

Education	
B.S., Management,
Auburn University

Years with Hensel Phelps: 24 Years	

Years in Industry:  26 Years

Licenses / Certifications
Design-Build Institute of America (DBIA) Designated Professional 
Certified

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) 
Accredited Professional (AP)

As Hensel Phelps Services’ Financial Controls Specialist, Mr. 
Milford is responsible for providing financial oversight of the 
contract and cost proposal for the BCSD project and all BCSD 
stakeholders involved. 

With over 26 years of industry experience, Mr. Milford is 
responsible for establishing preliminary budgets and final cost 
proposals with a focus on education customers. A large part 
of Mr. Milford’s success is due to his collaborative approach 
and focus on team communication to meet the customer 
requirements. This includes listening to stakeholder needs and 
developing financial related project specific solutions to help 
solve owner and facility operator challenges. 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Avenues: The World School  |  New York, NY  |   
Financial Controls

	� Scope: Facility Services, Operations & Maintenance, 
Technical and Custodial Services, and Development and 
Implementation of a Capital Program Management Plan

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering facility 
services and solutions, on a five-year contract, for the 
private school comprised of 320,000 SF in two buildings. 

Harlem Village Academies (HVA)  |  New York, NY  |   
Financial Controls

	� Scope: Full Operations & Maintenance Services, and 
deliver technical, landscape, custodial services and 
develop a vendor management program for HVA

	� The Hensel Phelps Services team is delivering a facilities 
management program for HVA which is a part of a network 
of three elementary, two middle, and one high school

Austin-Bergstrom International Airport (ABIA) - 
Southwest Airlines (SWA)   
Austin, TX  |  Financial Controls

	� Scope: Facility Services for the 24x7x365 critical 
environment airport.
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.6 Contractor will list the staff 

required to fulfill the attached 
specifications, including management/

supervision (Exhibit E). 

This list will be shown by school, by 
FTE. (One FTE is equal to a full time 

employee working or paid a normal 
2080 hours annually). This staffing 

should also indicate the normal work 
hours each day.

4.0.1.6. Proposed Custodial Services Staff (Including Supervisors and 
Head Custodians)
The Hensel Phelps/AMI team will follow the “Staffing at Each School/Site” Chart shown in 
the RFP Exhibit E. See completed Exhibit E on the following pages. 

Teamwork and Accountability 
amongst all staff, users, and 

facilities maintenance and 
operations team toward one goal-- 

Beaufort County School District’s 
priorities and missions.
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Exhibit E

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 
 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Hilton Head Creative Arts  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.5 Night Cleaner 20 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.11 Night Cleaner 4380 

.63 Floor Technician 1213 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Hilton Head Early Childhood  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.25 Night Cleaner 18 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

1.90 Night Cleaner 3942 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Hilton Head High  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.5 Day Porter 20 

4.75 Night Cleaner 38 

1.75 Floor Technician 14 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.11 Day Porter 4380 

4.0 Night Cleaner 8322 

1.47 Floor Technician 3066 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Hilton Head Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.5 Day Porter 20 

3.25 Night Cleaner 26 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.11 Day Porter 4380 

2.74 Night Cleaner 5694 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Hilton Head Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.5 Night Cleaner 20 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.11 Night Cleaner 4380 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Daufuskie Island  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.25 Day Porter 2 

.25 Night Cleaner 2 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.21 Day Porter 438 

.21 Night Cleaner 438 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Bluffton Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2.25 Night Cleaner 18 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.9 Night Cleaner 3942 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Bluffton Early Childhood  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

.5 Night Cleaner 4 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

.42 Night Cleaner 876 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Bluffton Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

3 Night Cleaner 24 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.53 Night Cleaner 5256 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Bluffton High  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
3 Day Porter 24 

3.75 Night Cleaner 30 

1 Floor Technician 8 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.53 Day Porter 5256 

3.16 Night Cleaner 6570 

.84 Floor Technician 1752 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  H.E. McCracken Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.75 Night Cleaner 22 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.32 Night Cleaner 4818 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  May River High  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
3 Day Porter 24 

4.25 Night Cleaner 34 

1 Floor Technician 8 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.53 Day Porter 5256 

3.58 Night Cleaner 7446 

.84 Floor Technician 1752 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  M.C. Riley Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  M.C Riley Early Childhood  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1 Night Cleaner 8 

.25 Floor Technician 2 

.25 Supervisor 2 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

.84 Night Cleaner 1752 

.21 Floor Technician 438 

.21 Supervisor 438 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Okatie Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1.75 Night Cleaner 14 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.47 Night Cleaner 3066 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Pritchardville Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Red Cedar Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  River Ridge Academy  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

3.25 Night Cleaner 26 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

2.74 Night Cleaner 5694 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Maintenance Annex (Fire Station)  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.25 Night Cleaner 2 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.25 Night Cleaner 520 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Battery Creek High  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2 Day Porter 16 

4.25 Night Cleaner 34 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.68 Day Porter 3504 

3.58 Night Cleaner 7446 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Broad River Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

1.5 Night Cleaner 12 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

1.26 Night Cleaner 2628 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  J.S. Shanklin Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

1.25 Night Cleaner 10 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

1.05 Night Cleaner 2190 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Robert Small Int. Academy  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2 Day Porter 16 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.68 Day Porter 3504 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Beaufort District Office (DESC)  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1.5 Night Cleaner 12 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 2080 

1.5 Night Cleaner 3120 

.5 Floor Technician 1040 

.5 Supervisor 1040 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Beaufort Maintenance Office  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.125 Night Cleaner 1 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.13 Night Cleaner 260 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  James J. David Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

.5 Night Cleaner 4 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

.42 Night Cleaner 876 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Whale Branch Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1.25 Night Cleaner 10 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.05 Night Cleaner 2190 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Whale Branch Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2.25 Night Cleaner 18 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.90 Night Cleaner 3942 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Whale Branch Early College High  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2 Day Porter 16 

1.75 Night Cleaner 14 

.625 Floor Technician 5 

1 Supervisor 8 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.68 Day Porter 3504 

1.47 Night Cleaner 3066 

.53 Floor Technician 1095 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005 
Custodial Services 

EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

School/Site:  Beaufort High 

Daily: 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
3 Day Porter 24 

5.5 Night Cleaner 44 

1.5 Floor Technician 12 

1 Supervisor 8 

Annually: 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
2.53 Day Porter 5256 

4.63 Night Cleaner 9636 

1.26 Floor Technician 2628 

.84 Supervisor 1752 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Beaufort Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.625 Floor Technician 5 

.625 Supervisor 5 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.53 Floor Technician 1095 

.53 Supervisor 1095 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Beaufort Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.5 Night Cleaner 2 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.11 Night Cleaner 4380 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Coosa Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

2 Night Cleaner 16 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.68 Night Cleaner 3504 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Lady’s Island Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1 Night Cleaner 8 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

.84 Night Cleaner 1752 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Lady’s Island Middle  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

3 Night Cleaner 28 

5 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

.75   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.95 Night Cleaner 6132 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Pink House  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.125 Night Cleaner 1 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.125 Night Cleaner 1 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Mossy Oaks Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1.5 Night Cleaner 12 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

1.26 Night Cleaner 2628 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Port Royal Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1 Day Porter 8 

1 Night Cleaner 8 

.5 Floor Technician 4 

.5 Supervisor 4 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
.84 Day Porter 1752 

.84 Night Cleaner 1752 

.42 Floor Technician 876 

.42 Supervisor 876 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  St. Helena Elementary  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.5 Day Porter 12 

2.5 Night Cleaner 20 

.75 Floor Technician 6 

.75 Supervisor 6 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
1.26 Day Porter 2628 

2.11 Night Cleaner 4380 

.63 Floor Technician 1314 

.63 Supervisor 1314 
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Exhibit E (continued)

RFP #21-005  
Custodial Services  

 
EXHIBIT E – STAFFING AT EACH SCHOOL/SITE 

 
Contractor must supply a list of the custodial staff by FTE count (one FTE is equal to 2080 
paid hours annually) for each School/Site proposed, including Supervisors and Head 
Custodians. 
Identify day custodians separately from evening custodians 

 
 
School/Site:  Adult Education  

 

Daily: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.25 Night Cleaner 2 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 

   

   

   

 

Annually: 
 

# Employees (FTE) Position Hours 
0 Day Porter 0 

.25 Night Cleaner 2 

0 Floor Technician 0 

0 Supervisor 0 
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.7 Submit a projected Transition 

Plan for implementation, if awarded 
the contract, to include tasks and time 
frames. Include a list of all individuals 
assigned to your transition team with 

current contact information, telephone 
numbers and email addresses.

The proposer must submit an overview 
of key elements of the Transition 

Plan, inclusive of the following broad 
categories.  This plan is not intended 
to represent a transition plan specific 

to the RFP but should provide 
sufficient detail to highlight the depth 

of proposer’s understanding of the 
transition process.

a) Review of District operating 
procedures and policies.

b) A plan to incorporate fair 
consideration of retaining current 

qualified and experienced custodial 
employees with comparable 

compensation and benefits. A 
breakdown of proposed employee 

benefits is required.
c) Recruitment of key staff.

d) Review of existing vendor  contracts.
e) Review of existing facilities.

4.0.1.7. Transition Plan

Hensel Phelps/AMI Transition Plan
Hensel Phelps/AMI will implement their Transition Plan, as part of their unique approach, 
at the outset of the BCSD program to fully understand the goals, objectives, expectations 
for successful outcomes, and detail facility needs to deliver a premier level of service on 
Day One. This is accomplished through the execution of the following process steps and 
will begin on award and Board approval. Deliverables will be scheduled and tracked on 
a daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, and beyond. Each task within the setup and transition 
plan will be assigned to a Hensel Phelps/AMI team member and tracked with updates to 
the District daily as needed. 

	� Discovery:  Through a proactive approach, the Hensel Phelps/AMI Transition Team 
will perform a detailed facility assessment. The intention of the facility assessment 
is to further augment the information provided during the proposal period to ensure 
the team develops the best Custodial Services Operation Program (CSOP) – the 
blueprint for ongoing and stable operations. The facility assessment will include 
interviews with the key BCSD staff and existing custodial staff to fully identify the 
condition of the assets and the detailed facility operational needs.

	� Assessment:  During this phase of the Transition process, Hensel Phelps/AMI team 
members will compile the collected data and analyze all information in conjunction 
with the data provided during the proposal phase to ensure a complete condition 
assessment is performed for all systems. Part of the Assessment process is to review 
the frequency, severity, and breadth of failures.

	� Analysis:  The analysis that is conducted from the Discovery and Assessment is 
based upon qualitative and quantitative analysis from one-on-one conversations, team 
collaboration, and review of factual data. During this phase, the Hensel Phelps/AMI team 
develops the plans that make up the content of the CSOP.  This phase includes the 
development of human resources, quality and safety plans.

	� Recommendation:  The Hensel Phelps/AMI team will coordinate all aspects of the 
CSOP with the BCSD team and provide a detailed report during the recommendation 
phase. Recommendations will be made for any adjustments to custodial service plans, 
critical need areas, district and facility operating procedures and policies, safety plans, 
staffing plans, and scheduling.

	� Implementation:  The transition phase will culminate with the execution of the 
Custodial Services Operation Program.  

The Hensel Phelps Team delivers what they promise.  
Failure has never been an option with Hensel Phelps. 

As a testament to our execution, over 75% of Hensel Phelps’ 
business is with repeat clients. 

Discovery Assessment Analysis Recommendation Implementation

“Hensel Phelps Services Group 
made the building transition 

seamless. I did not have to deal 
with issues. Allowed me to do other 

things for SLAC and not be dealing 
with typical new building issues.”

The Services Group TSO helped 
the Stanford University SLAC 

personnel learn the new systems 
associated with the building; 

optimized and ensured that it 
performed as intended.”

Chandler Eason
Director of Major Capital Projects

Stanford University, SLAC
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Transition Plan Summary
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team’s transition process is a time-tested methodology that is 
utilized for all transitions, from small commercial janitorial opportunities to this opportunity 
at BCSD. Hensel Phelps/AMI is committed to implementing a successful and seamless 
transition, with labor harmony and no negative impact on the service delivery or quality 
through a focused and corporate supported implementation. 

Preparation
	� Contract Award
	� Transition Team Initiated
	� Finalize Contract
	� Preliminary Meetings
	� Technology Identification 

Operations Go-Live
	� Management Hiring
	� Staff On-boarding and Training 
	� Service Delivery Plan Implemented
	� Technology Implementation
	� Vendor Selection

Optimization
	� Develop Continuous Process
	� Governance Model Implemented
	� Review Service Level Agreements and Deliverables
	� Implement Reporting and Accountability Process

Hensel Phelps/AMI will utilize a transition tracking matrix to track and monitor the process 
of the transition activities.
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Once an approved operation plan is received, the Hensel Phelps/AMI management team 
will begin training their staff  on elements specific to the BCSD facilities that may differ 
from their operational plan at other locations.  This additional training will ensure proper 
communication to the entire Hensel Phelps/AMI Team and ensure their success on the 
BCSD Custodial program.

The project team brings the people, processes, tools and expertise to transition 
the Hensel Phelps service delivery the right way — optimizing value and 
managing risk for clients, with minimal impact on employees, students, 

faculty and the community.  Hensel Phelps does this by providing a tailored, 
structured, and realistic approach to handling transitions of facilities, vendor 

transitions, and other transitional situations. 

Hensel Phelps is proposing a transition team for BCSD, led by Regional/Transition 
Manager Scott Peterman, with significant experience in Education building operations, 
maintenance, and in new building / program set-up and transition efforts, and specifically 
with BCSD.

Mobilization / Transition Plan Assuming November 1, 2020 Start Date 
Hensel Phelps/AMI will assemble the authorized BCSD team and finalize the transition 
plan by confirming assumptions and expectations with the District. Hensel Phelps’ 
approach is to deploy the team 30-days prior to contract start to ensure a smooth 
transition of the workforce and management staff for BCSD. As an added benefit, this 
team of professionals brings relevant work experience in K-12 and Higher Education  
custodial management services and understand the sensitivities of working across a 
functional campus environment within minimal impacts. 

The realization from the mobilization stage are:

	� Communicating with BCSD stakeholders to develop partnership and understanding of 
requirements, appropriate guidelines and procedures, and timing for each activity

	� Initial kick-off meeting, at BCSD’s convenience, to review any existing vendor / supplier 
information and any existing custodial issues.

	� Establish and schedule the comprehensive orientation and training program
	� Coordinating start-up and management teams
	� Planning / recognizing the project deliverables, including mitigation plans for all key 

risks
	� Deploying the team
	� Implementing the Project Schedule that details all activity necessary to accomplish the 

primary and supporting objectives of the Scope of Work
	� Engagement of Hensel Phelps’ corporate teams for support (Upper Management, 

Operations, Human Resources, Quality, and Safety)
	� Initial development of standard operating procedures
	� Establishing the work order management process and coordinate the District’s CMMS 

(SchoolDude, or others, as applicable)

Shown Above: Stanford University
SLAC National Accelerator
Laboratory (Hensel Phelps 

delivered Transitional Solutions and 
Facility Maintenance)
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.8 What is the name of the training 
program(s) your company uses to train 

all employees?

If the training program(s) is/are an “in 
house” training program(s), a copy of 

the program(s) must be attached to  
this RFP.

4.0.1.8. Training Program for Management & Hourly Employees
The Hensel Phelps/AMI custodial program includes maintaining a clean interior and 
exterior environment  of the BCSD campus which serves approximately 22,000 students 
and approximately 2,300 full time employees; currently comprised of 19 elementary/early 
childhood centers, two PK-8 Academies, six middle and six high schools, one Alternative 
Program and an Administrative Office. Hensel Phelps/AMI will hire and train their staff 
to maintain the integrity of building—we know that physical environments have a 
direct impact on students and faculty alike, so our custodial services team works 
effectively to deliver and maintain healthy, clean, and safe buildings.

Hensel Phelps Training Program
Hensel Phelps/AMI’s people make the difference! They hire, train, and retain the best in 
the business and promote from within. Hensel Phelps/AMI is committed to an ongoing 
employee training program that:

	� Aids in the effective and efficient use of procedures, systems, and equipment for 
improved performance.

	� Encourages a positive attitude for professional growth and improvement.
	� Allows individuals to pursue their career goals through self-development.
	� Serves as a means for improved communications within the Company.

As such, a comprehensive Training Program, powered by RedVector, with thousands of 
courses has been developed for Hensel Phelps/AMI employees.  This program includes 
a variety of courses in multiple content areas, including: Administrative / Compliance, 
Communication / Leadership, Craft Training, Equipment, Estimating, Safety, Software, 
Technical-Field, and Technical-Office.  The Training Program also allows for the 
management and tracking of licenses and credentials of Hensel Phelps/AMI employees.

Each course of the Training Program has been defined in detail and assigned, as 
applicable, to the learning plans of employees throughout the Company.  Courses are 
taught both internally by well-qualified Hensel Phelps/AMI employees and with the 
engagement of external content experts.  

RedVector dashboard view
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The Hensel Phelps/AMI Learning Management System (LMS) maintains all training 
materials and course information as well as a means for scheduling and tracking course 
instruction records.  Each employee, by position, is required to take core training and 
advanced training to maintain proficiency in their duties and responsibilities on an annual 
basis.

External Resources | Employee Professional Development
Employee development goes beyond job skill and technical training. Helping people grow, 
develop, and maximize their potential is one of Hensel Phelps/AMI’s core values. This 
can range from technical and specialty courses to leadership and management. Once an 
employee decides on a career path to pursue, a customized training and development 
program can be established. 

Local educational institutes, public and vocational schools, and trade associations 
such as web-based BOMA, IFMA, and APPA are good external resources utilized 
in conjunction with Hensel Phelps/AMI’s robust and comprehensive RedVector training 
solution and other internal resources. Hensel Phelps/AMI utilizes these recognized 
platforms to keep the team and staff current with industry trends and advances in the 
Custodial Services of Educational Institutions leading to higher and more attentive 
performance for their clients, staff and students. The Hensel Phelps/AMI teams never stop 
learning, just like the ongoing student and teacher discoveries occurring daily in these 
important District facilities. 

Avenues - The World School 
(Facility Maintenance and  

Custodial Management)
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.9 What system does your 

company use to measure the quality of 
your facilities maintenance services? 

Please describe here or attach a 
copy of your company’s documents 

describing your system.

If your company uses a software 
quality control system, please name 

the system.

4.0.1.9. Custodial Services Quality Control
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team’s high standards for quality are achieved through continual, 
open communication with BCSD and the Project Team by implementing a comprehensive 
Quality Assurance (QA) / Quality Control (QC) Program that provides the roadmap for the 
overall Project and the Service Areas and includes the following key elements:

	� An integrated Quality Control Organization trained to implement and manage the 
process.

	� A site-specific Quality Control Plan built around Hensel Phelps/AMI’s Corporate QC / 
QA Plan but tailored to address the specific needs and requirements of Hensel Phelps/
AMI’s custodial services project.

	� A proactive, quality process, which contains six control steps, designed to measure and 
ensure that the work is done right the first time.

	� A Quality Log which monitors the status of each work area.
	� Standardized procedures, including an electronic record-keeping process, for 

documenting and tracking, inspections, and deficiencies that verifies and measures 
performance in all service areas.

This high-performing team of professionals is committed to protecting the integrity of 
the overall campus and delivering superior custodial services in an optimum state of 
cleanliness to BCSD. The Hensel Phelps/AMI Project Team does this by following a 
systematic approach that consists of a step-by-step routine of quality requirements.

The fundamental concept of this Process is to focus the Team’s effort on planning and 
preparation in order to deliver the work correctly the first time. The quality process begins 
with the assignment of zones, tasks and frequencies.  Establishing a solid program that 
clearly identifies areas of responsibility and the frequencies with which each task must 
be performed creates the benchmark for the operation, and ultimately the Quality Control 
Program.  

Hensel Phelps/AMI’s quality assurance and quality control programs are designed 
specifically to constantly drive for improved performance; they use the contract cleaning 
specifications from BCSD and the collection of quantifiable data (which is gathered 
through inspections and BCSD’s feedback) then Hensel Phelps/AMI measures and tracks 
their performance). The program is an ongoing process that not only ensures that the 
project team meets all the performance standards of the BCSD contract, but also helps 
the team evaluate their practices and procedures to constantly strive to improve their 
delivery of service.

Tracking of Hensel Phelps/AMI’s performance is conducted through daily inspections and 
allows them to proactively analyze issues and adjust where needed – before an issue 
becomes a larger problem. This approach to quality assurance ensures that the work is 
completed and enables Hensel Phelps/AMI to constantly evaluate their practices to meet 
the changing needs of their clients.
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Quality Control System
To facilitate the QC / QA program, Hensel Phelps/AMI has selected CleanTelligent as 
their Quality Management Software. It is a 100% web-based highly configurable quality 
management system that helps Hensel Phelp/AMI track, analyze, and report on quality 
issues. CleanTelligent is the heart of the team’s project approach. The Hensel Phelps/
AMI Team recognizes that quality control is not a one-time event or an activity that is 
conducted once a week – quality control is an ongoing process to ensure they meet the 
performance standards of BCSD’s janitorial services contract.

CleanTelligent places the focus on customer requirements, processes, analytical 
documentation and timely execution of changes and adjustments. This is an Cloud-
based, closed-loop software program that allows the Team to contact employees to 
resolve issues quickly and to communicate effectively with BCSD facility management by 
responding with results in real-time. Hensel Phelps/AMI is able to quickly identify locations 
and services within BCSD that need improvement and make the necessary adjustments 
before they become a larger issue. CleanTelligent ensures that a consistent and high-
quality cleaning program is performed at BCSD.

The QC Team, including the Project Manager, Assistant Project Manager, QC Manager 
and QC Inspectors,Site / Shift Supervisors, and Corporate Team Members of the partners 
monitor the BCSD facilities’ cleaning performance utilizing a mobile communications 
device (Smartphone or Tablet) loaded with the CleanTelligent Inspector Program App.

“...after over three decades in this 
business, Hensel Phelps Services 

documentation is second-to-
none”

Rick Erickson, SLAC Construction 
Manager, SLAC National 

Accelerator Laboratory

Shown Above: 
CleanTelligent Dashboards
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Proposed Green Cleaning Standard Operating Procedures
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team strives to be an industry leader in environmental leadership.  
This team incorporates their extensive background with strategic, industry leading, 
manufacturers to provide effective green solutions across their suite of services.  The 
Hensel Phelps/AMI’s collective mission as a solution provider to their customers is to lead 
the way in three green core elements:

	� Minimize impact on human health and the environment
	� Improve indoor air quality
	� Reduce water, chemical and energy waste

Hensel Phelps/AMI and its strategic partners offer process, equipment, and chemical 
solutions to meet or exceed some of the most stringent and leading green initiatives in 
the industry. Their  internal operational procedures and processes foster the continued 
expansion and growth of green initiatives.  

	� Cradle to grave management - The Team’s goal is to own “green” from procurement to 
disposal / recycle

	� Ongoing review of process and new products for continued “greening”
	� Initial and ongoing staff awareness training ensures optimization 

Implementation of a Green Cleaning Initiative at BCSD will be a collaborative approach.  
The following will aid in team selection and facility assessment efforts: 

	� Select team members, set goals, and establish a timeline
	� Comprehensive review of the facility, current green initiatives, state and federal 

regulations, and other environmental impact concerns 
	� Facility Staff Training
	� Train staff about products, procedures, and equipment 
	� Establish and maintain health and safety benefit awareness efforts
	� Document best practices and incorporate into daily operations regime
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.10 Does your company use 

software to manage your custodial 
services? If yes, what software does 

your company use to manage your 
custodial services?

The Hensel Phelps/AMI custodians 
and supervisors are often the 

first impression for the BCSD’s 
users. It is Hensel Phelps/AMI’s 

policy that all employees present 
a positive,responsive and friendly 

customer service. This level of positive 
service is accomplished through 

Hensel Phelps/AMI’s customer service 
plan that details how employees 
will interact, on a daily basis with 

the employees of BCSD, students, 
teachers, and other visitors.

4.0.1.10. Custodial Services Management System

The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team uses CleanTelligent to manage custodial services for 
Education facilities. [YES] Although project team remains platform agnostic, the team 
also has the capability to use other systems if desired by BCSD. 

First and foremost, Hensel Phelps/AMI will collaborate with the District to listen to 
their needs, discuss solutions, and understand the culture of the BCSD, it’s people, 
and service level expectations. This process ensures Hensel Phelps/AMI’s ability to 
deliver service and operate seamlessly in the BCSD culture to minimize impact of such a 
large change on the building occupants. This process also allows the team to document 
the custodian presence and need of each building/site. Job tasking and scheduling will be 
done through the CleanTelligent software system to ensure required frequencies are met. 
Data will be provided and made accessible to BCSD as needed. 

Hensel Phelps/AMI will hold Quarterly Reviews for the team and BCSD leadership 
personnel to review KPIs and address any necessary quality standards. The project 
team will work closely with the District to validate and update data and establish a 
reporting package that will provide insight into the status of the facility, the effectiveness 
of operations, and impacts on operational and capital budgets. Throughout the project, 
BCSD will have access to all live data, all periodic reports, as well as the full owner’s 
portal.

Additional CleanTelligent information is provided in SECTION 9: CUSTODIAL QUALITY 
CONTROL. 
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.11 Does your company have a 

formal process for qualifying custodial 
supplies?___ Yes ___ No

If yes, describe the process your 
company uses to qualify all custodial 
supplies, including, but not limited to 

cleaning, disinfecting, waxing, and 
polishing supplies. Enclose a copy 
with this RFP. If you do not have a 

formal process, describe the process 
on a separate page(s) titled “Custodial 

Supplies Qualification Process” and 
include it with this RFP.

In the event that the BCSD determines 
that it is in the best interest of the 

BCSD to specify the supplies to be 
used, is your company willing to use 
the supplies specified by the BCSD? 

___ Yes ___ No

4.0.1.11. Custodial Supplies Qualification
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team utilizes a formal process for qualifying custodial 
supplies. [YES]  

Custodial Supplies Qualification Process 
Hensel Phelps/AMI intends to procure their supplies (including, but not limited to cleaning, 
disinfecting, waxing, and polishing supplies) through a local and/or regional supply  
vendor and will collaborate with BCSD to determine the best-value selection. An example 
of the Hensel Phelps/AMI qualification process follows: 

1.	 Solicit cost proposals and specifications from no less than three (3) local and/or 
regional suppliers

2.	 Evaluate suppliers based upon best-value and quality of product criteria
3.	 Provide supplier recommendation to BCSD—All products will be presented and 

approved by BCSD personnel prior to purchase (any changes will be discussed prior 
to approval)

4.	 Review performance and quality of product quarterly

Hensel Phelps/AMI agrees and commits to use the supplies specified by BCSD. 
[YES]  
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.12 Contractor will provide all 
paper supplies, custodial supplies 

and plastic liners. All such supplies 
must be approved, in advance of 
use, by the CASO or designated 

representative. Where a change in 
dispenser is required to accommodate 
the contractor’s provided supplies. The 

contractor is responsible for providing 
the dispenser and the contractor shall 

repair areas occupied by previous 
device so that area has a uniform finish 

to match existing wall.

4.0.1.12. Custodial Services Procurement
The Hensel Phelps/AMI team acknowledges and agrees to provide all paper supplies, 
custodial supplies and plastic liners. All such supplies will be approved, in advance of 
use, by the CASO or designated representative at BCSD. Where a change in dispenser 
is required to accommodate the provided supplies, Hensel Phelps/AMI will be responsible 
for providing the dispenser and shall repair areas occupied by previous device so that 
area has a uniform finish to match existing wall.
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.13 Contractor will be required 
to adhere to the BCSD Key Control 
Policy. Individuals will be personally 
responsible for assigned keys. Any 
lost keys will require reporting and 

penalties as described in the BCSD 
Key Control Policy. Supervisor level 

and above shall be given master 
keys to the building. Any lost keys 

will require reporting and penalties as 
described in the key control policy. All 

non-supervisor level employees will 
be given interior door master keys and 

an access control card to enter the 
exterior of the building. Supervisors will 
be responsible for providing access to 
portions of the building not accessible 

by non-supervisory level employees 
when needed.

4.0.1.13. Key Control Policy
While Hensel Phelps/AMI has vast experience on multiple levels and projects with 
protecting properties with comprehensive key control programs, most are tailored to the 
clients and project’s needs.  

At many locations, the Hensel Phelps/AMI Team works closely with the customer’s 
existing control systems, honors their processes, and follows their requirements to the 
letter. During the Discovery Phase, Hensel Phelps/AMI will evaluate the BCSD’s systems, 
offer improvements if we see them, but their bottom line will always be respectful of 
and enforcement of the District’s existing processes. The project team will create an 
established process and detailed tracking report for documentation, including accessing 
and deactivating key and access cards.
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.14 Each Offeror must provide 

their audited end of year financial 
reports for the last three (3) fiscal 

years. The financial statements 
should indicate a positive cash flow 

for three (3) years. Financial Stability 
is an Evaluation Criterion and it is an 

essential evaluation factor.

4.0.1.14. Financial Stability
Celebrating 83 years in business, Hensel Phelps is a financially strong corporation with a 
net worth of $388 million and a Dun & Bradstreet rating of 5A3, reflecting their excellent 
credit and financial stability. The “Best” insurance rating for Hensel Phelps’ surety is 
A++XV and the total bond program is $9 Billion.

Celebrating 42 years in business, American Maintenance LLC is a financially strong 
corporation with revenues totaling over $45 million annually with cash positive results at 
the end of the year total over $6 million. As a privately-held and operated company with 
more than 2,000 employees, American Maintenance provides integrated facility solutions 
to more than 200 clients and manages more than 60 million square feet of space on a 
daily basis. 

A copy of both Hensel Phelps and American Maintenance partner firm’s audited 
financial reports for 2019, 2018, and 2017 are included as an attachment to this 
proposal submission and are deemed CONFIDENTIAL. 

Note: American Maintenance Financial Statements for 2019 are not ready from their 
accounting firm/reviewed. Provided herein are years 2016 through 2018. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 
Hensel Phelps Construction Co.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, and the related 
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, partners’ capital, and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership and the U.S. member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

KPMG LLP
Suite 800
1225 17th Street
Denver, CO 80202-5598
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Other Matter 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The Schedule of Operating Expenses (supplementary information) included on page 19 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
April 27, 2020 
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

3



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Earnings

Year ended December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

   
   

   

   

   

   
  
  
  
  
  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Hensel Phelps Construction Co. (the Company) is a Delaware general partnership.  The general partnership 
is owned by two affiliated companies, Hensel Phelps Parent 1 and Hensel Phelps Parent 2 (Parent 
Companies).  These affiliated companies are Delaware corporations that have elected to be an S Corporation 
for income tax purposes. The principal business activity of the Company is to operate as a general contractor 
on construction projects throughout the United States. The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and its primary subsidiaries, Hensel Phelps Development LLC, and Hensel Phelps 
Services, LLC, which are wholly owned. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

(a) Revenue Recognition 

Construction contracts. The Company recognizes construction contract revenue over time, as 
performance obligations are satisfied, due to the continuous transfer of control to the customer. 
Construction contracts are generally accounted for as a single performance obligation. The Company 
generally provides limited assurance type warranties to customers for work performed under contracts; 
however, as the warranties are not sold separately and do not provide customers with a service, the 
Company does not account for them as a separate performance obligation. 

Revenue is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method, based primarily on contract costs 
incurred to date compared to total estimated contract costs. The percentage-of-completion method 
accurately depicts the Company’s contract performance as it directly measures the value of the goods 
and services transferred to the customer. No gross margins are recognized on construction contracts 
until the contract is 10% complete and then only when progress reaches a point where experience is 
sufficient to estimate financial results with reasonable accuracy.  

The Company makes revisions in its cost estimates as required during the course of construction. These 
revisions are reflected in the accounting period in which the facts that require such revisions become 
known. At the time an estimated loss on a contract becomes known, the entire amount of the estimated 
loss is recognized.    

 
 

Service contracts. For all service contracts in which the Company has the right to consideration from 
the customer in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Company’s 
performance completed to date, the Company utilizes the ‘as invoiced’ practical expedient and revenue 
is recognized when services are performed and contractually billable.  

 
 

Contract assets and Liabilities. Contract assets represent a conditional right to consideration arising 
from revenue recognized where the right is conditional on something other than the passage of time 
and include contract retainage and costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted 



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO. 

AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 

 9 (Continued) 

contracts on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company’s contracts allow for progress billings to 
the customer as contract costs are incurred. At times the customer retains a portion of payments from 
the Company’s progress billings until satisfactory completion of a contract, which is referred to as 
contract retainage. This amount varies on a contract by contract basis. Costs and estimated earnings in 
excess of billings on uncompleted contracts represent revenue recognized in advance of amounts 
billed. Contract liabilities represent amounts billed to customers in advance of revenue recognized. 
Contract liabilities are presented as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted 
contracts on the consolidated balance sheet.  

Variable consideration. The nature of the Company’s contracts give rise to several types of variable 
consideration, including claims and unpriced change orders, award and incentive fees, shared savings, 
and liquidated damages. Variable consideration estimates are only included within the transaction 
price to the extent that a significant reversal would not be probable.  

(b) Classification of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

In accordance with normal practice in the construction industry, the Company includes asset and 
liability accounts relating to construction contracts in current assets and current liabilities even when 
such amounts are realizable or payable over a period in excess of one year. Retainages are generally 
not received by the Company or paid to the subcontractor until completion of the construction project 
and acceptance by the project owner. The length of the Company’s contracts varies but is typically 
between one and two years. 

(c) Depreciation 

The Company computes depreciation using principally the straight-line method, over estimated useful 
lives of 39 years for buildings and improvements, 10 years for aircraft, 7 years for office equipment, 
and 3 to 5 years for construction equipment. 

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 

 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations 
of credit risk. The Company invests its cash with high-credit quality federally insured institutions. 
Cash balances with any one institution may be in excess of federally insured limits or may be invested 
in non-federally insured money market accounts. The Company has not realized any losses in such 
cash investments or accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

(e) Marketable Securities 

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale. The Company has no trading 
securities or held to maturity securities. The Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities 
consist of bonds, notes, debentures, and other securities.  The securities are reported at estimated fair 
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value in the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported as a net 
amount in a separate component of partners’ capital until realized. 

Marketable securities are analyzed for credit loss (the difference between the present value of cash 
flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis). The credit loss, if any, will then be 
recognized in earnings as realized losses, while the balance of the decline of fair value related to other 
factors will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

There were no losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities for the year ended December 31, 
2019. Gains and losses on disposal of marketable securities are computed using the 
specific-identification method. 

(f) Long-Lived Assets 

The Company assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances 
indicate such amounts may not be recoverable from future operations. Generally, assets to be held and 
used in operations are considered impaired if the sum of expected undiscounted future net cash flows 
is less than the assets’ carrying amount. If an impairment is indicated, the loss is measured based on 
the amount by which the assets’ carrying amounts exceed their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are 
reported at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less estimated selling costs. No impairment 
was recognized in 2019. 

(g) Cash Flows 

 

The Company had the following non-cash items for the year ended December 31, 2019: 

        
       

(h) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Accounting for such long-term contracts requires significant 
judgment and is inherently complex. It is reasonably likely that actual results will differ from 
management’s estimates throughout performance under the contracts and that changes in estimates 
and actual results could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of 
operations. 

The Company estimates the total contract cost and the extent of progress toward completion of 
lump-sum contracts and recognizes a loss if the total estimated costs exceed the lump sum. The actual 
costs to complete the project could differ from those estimates. 
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The Company has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management’s 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the Company’s customers and a prior history of minimal 
write-offs. 

(2) New Accounting Pronouncement 

The Company adopted ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2019 using 
the modified retrospective method. Accordingly, the new guidance was applied retrospectively to contracts 
which were not completed as of January 1, 2019. Contracts completed prior to January 1, 2019 were 
accounted for using the guidance in effect at that time. Consistent with the modified retrospective method, 
prior periods financial statements were not adjusted nor restated to conform with the current period 
presentation. The resulting adjustments from the adoption of ASC Topic 606 were captured in the current 
period. 

The impact of the adoption on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2019 was 
primarily a reclassification of accounts receivable retainage due on contracts to contract retainage based on 
whether an unconditional right to consideration exists or not. The adoption, including the reclassification, 
did not have an impact to the Company’s opening capital. The impact of the adoption on the Company’s 
consolidated statement of earnings and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period ended 
December 31, 2019 was minimal.  

Contract assets and contract liabilities for the year were as follows (in thousands): 

Balance at Balance at

January 1, 2019 December 31, 2019

Assets

                              

 

Liabilities
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(3) Marketable Securities 

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses, and fair value of 
available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2019 were as 
follows: 

Gross Gross

unrealized unrealized

Amortized holding holding

cost gains losses Fair value

(In thousands)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury securities $            
Mortgage-backed securities            

Municipal bonds            

Corporate bonds            

$            

 

Expected maturities of debt securities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have 
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Maturities of debt 
securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2019: 

Amortized

cost Fair value

(In thousands)

Available-for-sale:

Due within one year $    2   

Due after one year through five years       

Due after five years       

      

 

 
 

 on securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are not significant at 
December 31, 2019. 
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The fair value of available-for-sale marketable securities is determined using the following inputs: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments at the measurement 
date. 

• Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the investment, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 pricing inputs include quoted prices for similar 
investments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar investments in markets that are 
not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the investment, and inputs that are 
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 

• Level 3 – Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and are based on the Company’s own 
assumptions about the assumptions that a market participant would use, including inputs derived from 
extrapolation and interpolation that are not corroborated by observable market data. 

In some cases, the inputs used to measure fair value might fall in different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the investment in its entirety falls is 
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the investment in its entirety. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the investment in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors 
specific to the investment. 

The following table categorizes all available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2019 based 
on valuation input level: 

Level 2 –

Other Level 3 –

Level 1 – significant Significant

Unadjusted observable unobservable Fair

quoted price inputs inputs value

(In thousands)

U.S. Treasury securities $ —              

Mortgage-backed securities —              

Municipal bonds —              

Corporate bonds —              

Total $ —              
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Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to their short maturities. 

(4) Notes Receivable 

A summary of notes receivable at December 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands): 

Notes receivable – employees $    

Notes receivable – other    

   

Less current portion   

Notes receivable, less current portion $    

 

Notes receivable from employees include approximately $6,822,000 in notes receivable secured by deeds of 
trust and approximately $6,401,000 in unsecured notes receivable at December 31, 2019. Notes receivable 
earn interest at variable interest rates and include approximately $5,419,000 of notes receivable that are 
noninterest bearing at December 31, 2019. The impact of recording interest on these notes receivable is 
insignificant. Notes receivable are generally due on demand. 

(5) Property and Equipment 

A summary of property and equipment, at cost, at December 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Land and improvements $    

Buildings and improvements    

Aircraft    

Construction equipment    

Office equipment    

   

Less accumulated depreciation   

$    

 

Depreciation expense totaled  

(6) Partnership Investments 

The Company has invested in various construction partnerships, which are accounted for using the 
proportionate consolidation method, whereby the Company’s undivided interest of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue, and expenses is consolidated. All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in 
consolidation. 
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(10) Deferred Compensation 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan (S Unit Plan) under which S Units are granted to key 
employees. S Units vest at the rate of 20% each year unless different vesting arrangements are determined 
by the board of directors at grant date. 

Plan earnings are credited to each S Unit holder based on the net income of the Company. The following 
summarizes the changes in deferred compensation: 

Number of

S Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       

    

      

       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the S Unit holder upon termination of employment, death, or permanent 
disability. The Company makes payments on deferred compensation balances  

 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan (I Unit Plan) for employees not eligible for the S Unit Plan. 
I Unit grants vest at a rate of 20% each year unless different vesting arrangements are determined by the 
board of directors at grant date. 

Number of

I Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       

    

      

       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the I Unit holder upon termination of employment, death, or permanent 
disability. In addition, the fully vested deferred compensation balance is paid out to the participants every 
five years. 
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The amount of deferred compensation under the S Unit Plan and the I Unit Plan is determined using the 
intrinsic value method. 

(11) Retirement Plans 

Salaried employees of the Company participate in a qualified retirement plan (the Plan). The defined 
contribution plan allows participants to contribute a portion of their compensation to the Plan. The annual 
contribution is determined at the discretion of the board of directors and totaled  

 

Hourly employees of the Company participate in another qualified retirement plan. The Plan is a defined 
contribution plan in which employee contributions are not permitted. The annual contribution is determined 
at the discretion of the board of directors and totaled  

. 

(12) Contingent Liabilities 

(a) Legal Proceedings 

The Company is involved in various matters of litigation routine to the nature of its business. In the 
opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or 
liquidity. 

(b) Guarantees 

The Company provides repayment guarantees to construction loan lenders for amounts borrowed by 
affiliated organizations that are accounted for as equity-method investments and not consolidated 
herein. Those guarantees amount to  

 

If the supplier defaults on a payment, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee. The 
Company monitors the financial performance of the supplier on a frequent basis, and also evaluates 
the availability of supplies from alternate sources. No amounts have been accrued as a loss contingency 
related to this guarantee because payment by the Company is not probable. 
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(13) Leases 

The Company has entered into various operating leases with initial terms from one to thirteen years. Total 
rent expense for the Company’s operating leases was  

. 

The following summarizes the future minimum rental payments under leases with noncancelable terms 
continuing beyond December 31, 2019 (in thousands): 

Year ending December 31:

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

(14) Related-Party Transactions 

The Company is the main policyholder with an insurance company, a related party, that provides insurance 
coverage for workers’ compensation, general liability, and automobile liability, each with a $1,000,000 limit 
per occurrence, with annual aggregate limits of $4,500,000. The insurance company provides builders risk 
coverage with $150,000 limit per occurrence. All of the policies are written as corporate reimbursement 
policies, whereas the Company pays the actual claims and is reimbursed by the insurance company.  

 
 

(15) Subsequent Events 

Subsequent to year end, a pandemic related to COVID-19 was declared. The pandemic represents a market 
risk factor including uncertainty in the construction industry. The Company will continue to monitor market 
conditions as information is available and evaluate the potential impacts, if any, on the Company’s 
operations. 

The Company has evaluated all other subsequent events from the balance sheet date through April 27, 2020, 
the date in which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and determined there are 
no other items to disclose. 
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Operating expenses:
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 
Hensel Phelps Construction Co.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018, and the related 
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, partners’ capital, and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
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Other Matter 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The Schedule of Operating Expenses (supplementary information) included on page 18 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
April 30, 2019 
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Assets

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Liabilities and Partners' Capital
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Consolidated Statement of Earnings

Year ended December 31, 2018

(In thousands)

   
   

   

   

   

   
  
  
  
  
  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

   

  

   

  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital

Year ended December 31, 2018

(In thousands)

   

   

  

  

  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Hensel Phelps Construction Co. (the Company) is a Delaware general partnership.  The general partnership 
is owned by two affiliated companies, Hensel Phelps Parent 1 and Hensel Phelps Parent 2 (Parent 
Companies).  These affiliated companies are Delaware corporations that have elected to be an S Corporation 
for income tax purposes. The principal business activity of the Company is to operate as a general contractor 
on construction projects throughout the United States. The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and its primary subsidiaries, Hensel Phelps Development LLC, and Hensel Phelps 
Services, LLC, which are wholly owned. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

(a) Revenue Recognition 

The Company uses the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for all significant construction 
contracts. Under this method, gross margins on individual contracts are recorded on the basis of the 
Company’s estimates of the percentage of completion of the individual contracts, although no gross 
margins are recognized until the contract is 10% complete and then only when progress reaches a point 
where experience is sufficient to estimate final results with reasonable accuracy. 

The Company makes revisions in its cost and margin estimates as required during the course of 
construction. These revisions are reflected in the accounting period in which the facts that require such 
revisions become known. At the time an estimated loss on a contract becomes known, the entire 
amount of the estimated loss is recognized. Change orders are not reflected in the accounts until the 
Company receives written approval from the owners. Income from final contract adjustments is 
recognized as revenue upon receipt. 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts represent revenue 
recognized in advance of amounts billed. Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on 
uncompleted contracts represent billings in advance of revenue recognized. 

(b) Classification of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

In accordance with normal practice in the construction industry, the Company includes asset and 
liability accounts relating to construction contracts in current assets and current liabilities even when 
such amounts are realizable or payable over a period in excess of one year. Retainages are generally 
not received by the Company or paid to the subcontractor until completion of the construction project 
and acceptance by the project owner. The length of the Company’s contracts varies but is typically 
between one and two years. 

(c) Depreciation 

The Company computes depreciation using principally the straight-line method, over estimated useful 
lives of 39 years for buildings and improvements, 10 years for aircraft, 7 years for office equipment, 
and 3 to 5 years for construction equipment. 
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(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of cash flows, the Company 
considers all highly liquid investments to be cash equivalents.  

. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations 
of credit risk. The Company invests its cash with high-credit quality federally insured institutions. 
Cash balances with any one institution may be in excess of federally insured limits or may be invested 
in non-federally insured money market accounts. The Company has not realized any losses in such 
cash investments or accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

(e) Marketable Securities 

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale. The Company has no trading 
securities or held to maturity securities. The Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities 
consist of bonds, notes, debentures, and other securities.  The securities are reported at estimated fair 
value in the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported as a net 
amount in a separate component of partners’ capital until realized. 

Marketable securities are analyzed for credit loss (the difference between the present value of cash 
flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis). The credit loss, if any, will then be 
recognized in earnings as realized losses, while the balance of the decline of fair value related to other 
factors will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

There were no losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities for the year ended December 31, 
2018. Gains and losses on disposal of marketable securities are computed using the 
specific-identification method. 

(f) Long-Lived Assets 

The Company assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances 
indicate such amounts may not be recoverable from future operations. Generally, assets to be held and 
used in operations are considered impaired if the sum of expected undiscounted future net cash flows 
is less than the assets’ carrying amount. If an impairment is indicated, the loss is measured based on 
the amount by which the assets’ carrying amounts exceed their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are 
reported at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less estimated selling costs. No impairment 
was recognized in 2018. 

(g) Cash Flows 

Interest paid on long-term debt . 

The Company had the following non-cash items for the year ended December 31, 2018: 
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(h) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Accounting for such long-term contracts requires significant 
judgment and is inherently complex. It is reasonably likely that actual results will differ from 
management’s estimates throughout performance under the contracts and that changes in estimates 
and actual results could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of 
operations. 

The Company estimates the total contract cost and the extent of progress toward completion of 
lump-sum contracts and recognizes a loss if the total estimated costs exceed the lump sum. The actual 
costs to complete the project could differ from those estimates. 

The Company has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management’s 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the Company’s customers and a prior history of minimal 
write-offs. 

(2) Marketable Securities 

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses, and fair value of 
available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2018 were as 
follows: 

Gross Gross

unrealized unrealized

Amortized holding holding

cost gains losses Fair value

(In thousands)
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Expected maturities of debt securities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have 
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Maturities of debt 
securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2018: 

Amortized

cost Fair value

(In thousands)

      

      

      

      

 

Gross realized gains included in other expense, net during the year ended  
 

Unrealized losses on securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are not significant at 
December 31, 2018. 

The fair value of available-for-sale marketable securities is determined using the following inputs: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments at the measurement 
date. 

• Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the investment, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 pricing inputs include quoted prices for similar 
investments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar investments in markets that are 
not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the investment, and inputs that are 
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 

• Level 3 – Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and are based on the Company’s own 
assumptions about the assumptions that a market participant would use, including inputs derived from 
extrapolation and interpolation that are not corroborated by observable market data. 

In some cases, the inputs used to measure fair value might fall in different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the investment in its entirety falls is 
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the investment in its entirety. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the investment in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors 
specific to the investment. 
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The following table categorizes all available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2018 based 
on valuation input level: 

Level 2 –

Other Level 3 –

Level 1 – significant Significant

Unadjusted observable unobservable Fair

quoted price inputs inputs value

(In thousands)

              

              

              

              

              

 

Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to their short maturities. 

(3) Uncompleted Contracts 

Information with respect to uncompleted contracts at December 31, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):  
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(4) Notes Receivable 

A summary of notes receivable at December 31, 2018 is as follows (in thousands): 

   

   

   

  

   

 

Notes receivable from employees include  
 
 
 
 

. 

(5) Property and Equipment 

A summary of property and equipment, at cost, at December 31, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

   

 

Depreciation expense totaled  

(6) Partnership Investments 

The Company has invested in various construction partnerships, which are accounted for using the 
proportionate consolidation method, whereby the Company’s undivided interest of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue, and expenses is consolidated. All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in 
consolidation. 
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(7) Long-Term Debt 

A summary of long-term debt at December 31, 2018 is as follows (in thousands): 

 

 

   

   

  

   

 

 

   

   

   

    

1   

 

(8) Income Taxes 

No provision for federal income taxes is necessary in the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
because as a General Partnership, the Company is not subject to federal income taxes and the tax effect of 
its activities accrues to the owners. 

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not 
of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 
50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the 
change in judgment occurs. 

(9) Notes to Parent Companies 

The Company has promissory notes to the Parent Companies equal to the principal amount of all unpaid 
stock notes within each company. The principal amount of the notes is automatically increased and decreased 
without any action and is included within the change in capital accounts of partners, net in the accompanying 
consolidated statement of partners’ capital.   
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(10) Deferred Compensation 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan (S Unit Plan) under which S Units are granted to key 
employees. S Units vest at the rate of 20% each year with full vesting at the end of five years. 

Plan earnings are credited to each S Unit holder based on the net income of the Company. The following 
summarizes the changes in deferred compensation: 

Number of

S Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       

    

      

       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the S Unit holder upon termination of employment, death, or permanent 
disability. The Company makes payments on deferred compensation balances in  

 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan (I Unit Plan) for employees not eligible for the S Unit Plan. 
I Unit grants vest at a rate of 20% each year unless different vesting arrangements are determined by the 
board of directors at grant date. 

Number of

I Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       

    

      

       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the I Unit holder upon termination of employment, death, or permanent 
disability. In addition, the fully vested deferred compensation balance is paid out to the participants every 
five years. 
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The amount of deferred compensation under the S Unit Plan and the I Unit Plan is determined using the 
intrinsic value method. 

(11) Retirement Plans 

Salaried employees of the Company participate in a qualified retirement plan (the Plan). The defined 
contribution plan allows participants to contribute a portion of their compensation to the Plan. The annual 
contribution is determined at the discretion of the board of directors and  

 

Hourly employees of the Company participate in another qualified retirement plan. The Plan is a defined 
contribution plan in which employee contributions are not permitted. The annual contribution is determined 
at the discretion of the board of directors and totaled  

 

(12) Contingent Liabilities 

(a) Legal Proceedings 

The Company is involved in various matters of litigation routine to the nature of its business. In the 
opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or 
liquidity. 

(b) Guarantees 

The Company provides repayment guarantees to construction loan lenders for amounts borrowed by 
affiliated organizations that are accounted for as equity-method investments and not consolidated 
herein. Those guarantees amount to  

 

If the supplier defaults on a payment, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee. The 
Company monitors the financial performance of the supplier on a frequent basis, and also evaluates 
the availability of supplies from alternate sources. No amounts have been accrued as a loss contingency 
related to this guarantee because payment by the Company is not probable. 
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(13) Leases 

The Company has entered into various operating leases with initial terms from one to thirteen years. Total 
rent expense for the Company’s operating leases was  

 

The following summarizes the future minimum rental payments under leases with noncancelable terms 
continuing beyond December 31, 2018 (in thousands): 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

(14) Related-Party Transactions 

The Company is the main policyholder with an insurance company, a related party, that provides insurance 
coverage for workers’ compensation, general liability, and automobile liability, each with a $1,000,000 limit 
per occurrence, with annual aggregate limits of $5,000,000. The insurance company provides builders risk 
coverage with $125,000 limit per occurrence. All of the policies are written as corporate reimbursement 
policies, whereas the Company pays the actual claims and is reimbursed by the insurance company. The 
insurance company also provides the stop loss for medical claims in excess of $325,000. During the year 
ended December 31, 2018, the Company paid insurance premiums totaling approximately $3,735,000. 

(15) Subsequent Events 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through April 30, 2019, the date 
in which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and determined there are no items 
to disclose. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors 
Hensel Phelps Construction Co.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, and the related 
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, partners’ capital, and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Hensel Phelps Construction Co. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017, in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership and the U.S. member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

KPMG LLP
Suite 800
1225 17th Street
Denver, CO 80202-5598
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Other Matters 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The Schedule of Operating Expenses (supplementary information) included on page 18 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
May 2, 2018 



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

Assets

   
   

   
   
   

   
   
   

   

   
   
   

   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

   
   

   

   
   
  

   

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Earnings

Year ended December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

   
   

   

   

   

   
  
  
  
  
  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

   

  

   

  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital

Year ended December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

   

   
  
  
  

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

6



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

   

   
  

   

  

  
  
  

   
  

   
   
   

   

  
   
   
  
  

   

  

  
  
  

  

   

   

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 8 (Continued) 

(1) Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Hensel Phelps Construction Co. (the Company) is a Delaware general partnership.  The general partnership 
is owned by two affiliated companies, Hensel Phelps Parent 1 and Hensel Phelps Parent 2 (Parent 
Companies).  These affiliated companies are Delaware corporations that have elected to be an S Corporation 
for income tax purposes. The principal business activity of the Company is to operate as a general contractor 
on construction projects throughout the United States. The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and its primary subsidiaries, Hensel Phelps Development LLC, and Hensel Phelps 
Services, LLC, which are wholly owned. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

(a) Revenue Recognition 

The Company uses the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for all significant construction 
contracts. Under this method, gross margins on individual contracts are recorded on the basis of the 
Company’s estimates of the percentage of completion of the individual contracts, although no gross 
margins are recognized until the contract is 10% complete and then only when progress reaches a point 
where experience is sufficient to estimate final results with reasonable accuracy. 

The Company makes revisions in its cost and margin estimates as required during the course of 
construction. These revisions are reflected in the accounting period in which the facts that require such 
revisions become known. At the time an estimated loss on a contract becomes known, the entire 
amount of the estimated loss is recognized. Change orders are not reflected in the accounts until the 
Company receives written approval from the owners. Income from final contract adjustments is 
recognized as revenue upon receipt. 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts represent revenue 
recognized in advance of amounts billed. Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on 
uncompleted contracts represent billings in advance of revenue recognized. 

(b) Classification of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

In accordance with normal practice in the construction industry, the Company includes asset and 
liability accounts relating to construction contracts in current assets and current liabilities even when 
such amounts are realizable or payable over a period in excess of one year. Retainages are generally 
not received by the Company or paid to the subcontractor until completion of the construction project 
and acceptance by the project owner. The length of the Company’s contracts varies but is typically 
between one and two years. 

(c) Depreciation 

The Company computes depreciation using principally the straight-line method, over estimated useful 
lives of 39 years for buildings and improvements, 10 years for aircraft, 7 years for office equipment, 
and 3 to 5 years for construction equipment. 
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 9 (Continued) 

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of cash flows, the Company 
considers all highly liquid investments to be cash equivalents.  

. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations 
of credit risk. The Company invests its cash with high-credit quality federally insured institutions. 
Cash balances with any one institution may be in excess of federally insured limits or may be invested 
in non-federally insured money market accounts. The Company has not realized any losses in such 
cash investments or accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

(e) Marketable Securities 

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale. The Company has no trading 
securities or held to maturity securities. The Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities 
consist of bonds, notes, debentures, and other securities.  The securities are reported at estimated fair 
value in the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported as a net 
amount in a separate component of partners’ capital until realized. 

Marketable securities are analyzed for credit loss (the difference between the present value of cash 
flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis). The credit loss, if any, will then be 
recognized in earnings as realized losses, while the balance of the decline of fair value related to other 
factors will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

There were no losses on other-than-temporarily impaired securities for the year ended December 31, 
2017. Gains and losses on disposal of marketable securities are computed using the 
specific-identification method. 

(f) Long-Lived Assets 

The Company assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances 
indicate such amounts may not be recoverable from future operations. Generally, assets to be held and 
used in operations are considered impaired if the sum of expected undiscounted future net cash flows 
is less than the assets’ carrying amount. If an impairment is indicated, the loss is measured based on 
the amount by which the assets’ carrying amounts exceed their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are 
reported at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less estimated selling costs. No impairment 
was recognized in 2017. 

(g) Cash Flows 

Interest paid on  

The Company had the following non-cash items for the year ended December 31, 2017: 
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(h) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Accounting for such long-term contracts requires significant 
judgment and is inherently complex. It is reasonably likely that actual results will differ from 
management’s estimates throughout performance under the contracts and that changes in estimates 
and actual results could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of 
operations. 

The Company estimates the total contract cost and the extent of progress toward completion of 
lump-sum contracts and recognizes a loss if the total estimated costs exceed the lump sum. The actual 
costs to complete the project could differ from those estimates. 

The Company has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management’s 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the Company’s customers and a prior history of minimal 
write-offs. 

(2) Marketable Securities 

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses, and fair value of 
available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2017 were as 
follows: 

Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized

Amortized holding holding
cost gains losses Fair value

(In thousands)
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Expected maturities of debt securities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have 
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Maturities of debt 
securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2017: 

Amortized
cost Fair value

(In thousands)

      
      
      

      

 

Gross realized gains included in other expense, net during the year ended  
. 

Unrealized losses on securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are not significant at 
December 31, 2017. 

The fair value of available-for-sale marketable securities is determined using the following inputs: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments at the measurement 
date. 

• Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the investment, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 pricing inputs include quoted prices for similar 
investments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar investments in markets that are 
not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the investment, and inputs that are 
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 

• Level 3 – Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and are based on the Company’s own 
assumptions about the assumptions that a market participant would use, including inputs derived from 
extrapolation and interpolation that are not corroborated by observable market data. 

In some cases, the inputs used to measure fair value might fall in different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the investment in its entirety falls is 
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the investment in its entirety. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the investment in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors 
specific to the investment. 



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO. 

AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 

 12 (Continued) 

The following table categorizes all available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2017 based 
on valuation input level: 

Level 2 –
Other Level 3 –

Level 1 – significant Significant
Unadjusted observable unobservable Fair
quoted price inputs inputs value

(In thousands)

              
              
              
              
              

             

 

Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to their short maturities. 

(3) Uncompleted Contracts 

Information with respect to uncompleted contracts at December 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands):  
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(4) Notes Receivable 

A summary of notes receivable at December 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands): 

   
   

   

  

   

 

Notes receivable from employees include  
 
 
 
 

. 

(5) Property and Equipment 

A summary of property and equipment, at cost, at December 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands):

   
   
   
   
   

   

  

   

 

Depreciation expense  

(6) Partnership Investments 

The Company has invested in various construction partnerships, which are accounted for using the 
proportionate consolidation method, whereby the Company’s undivided interest of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue, and expenses is consolidated. All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in 
consolidation. 
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(7) Long-Term Debt 

A summary of long-term debt at December 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands): 

 
 

   

   

  

   

 

 

   
   
   
    

   

 

(8) Income Taxes 

No provision for federal income taxes is necessary in the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
because as a General Partnership, the Company is not subject to federal income taxes and the tax effect of 
its activities accrues to the owners. 

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not 
of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 
50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the 
change in judgment occurs. 

(9) Notes to Parent Companies 

The Company has promissory notes to the Parent Companies equal to the principal amount of all unpaid 
stock notes within each company.  The principal amount of the notes is automatically increased and 
decreased without any action and is included within the change in capital accounts of partners, net in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of partners’ capital.   
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(10) Deferred Compensation 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan (S Unit Plan) under which S Units are granted to key 
employees. S Units vest at the rate of 20% each year with full vesting at the end of five years. 

Plan earnings are credited to each S Unit holder based on the net income of the Company. The following 
summarizes the changes in deferred compensation: 

Number of
S Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       
    

      
       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the S Unit holder upon termination of employment, hardship, or upon 
acceptance by the unit holder of the Company’s offer to sell shares of the Parent Companies capital stock to 
the unit holder. The Company makes payments on deferred  

 

 plan (I Unit Plan) for employees not eligible for the S Unit Plan. 
I Unit grants vest in accordance with the schedule set forth in the I Unit Plan agreement with each participant. 
Different vesting arrangements may apply to different participants as determined by the board of directors. 

Number of
I Units Value

(In thousands)

      

       
    

      
       

      

 

Deferred compensation is payable to the I Unit holder upon termination of employment or hardship. In 
addition, the fully vested deferred compensation balance is paid out to the participants every five years. 

The amount of deferred compensation under the S Unit Plan and the I Unit Plan is determined using the 
intrinsic value method. 
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(11) Retirement Plans 

Salaried employees of the Company participate in a qualified retirement plan (the Plan). The defined 
contribution plan allows participants to contribute a portion of their compensation to the Plan. The annual 
contribution is determined at the discretion of the board of directors and  

 

Hourly employees of the Company participate in another qualified retirement plan. The Plan is a defined 
contribution plan in which employee contributions are not permitted. The annual contribution is determined 
at the discretion of the board of directors and totaled approximately  

 

(12) Contingent Liabilities 

(a) Legal Proceedings 

The Company is involved in various matters of litigation routine to the nature of its business. In the 
opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or 
liquidity. 

(b) Guarantees 

The Company provides repayment guarantees to construction loan lenders for amounts borrowed by 
affiliated organizations that are accounted for as equity-method investments and not consolidated 
herein. Those guarantees amount to  

 

If the supplier defaults on a payment, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee. The 
Company monitors the financial performance of the supplier on a frequent basis, and also evaluates 
the availability of supplies from alternate sources. No amounts have been accrued as a loss contingency 
related to this guarantee because payment by the Company is not probable. 
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(13) Leases 

The Company has entered into various operating leases with initial terms from one to seven years. Total rent 
expense for the Company’s operating leases  

. 

The following summarizes the future minimum rental payments under leases with noncancelable terms 
continuing beyond December 31, 2017 (in thousands): 

   
   
   
   
   

   

 

 Related-Party Transactions 

The Company is the main policyholder with an insurance company, a related party, that provides insurance 
coverage for workers’ compensation, general liability, and automobile liability, each with a $1,000,000 limit 
per occurrence, with annual aggregate limits of $4,500,000. The insurance company provides builders risk 
coverage with $125,000 limit per occurrence. All of the policies are written as corporate reimbursement 
policies, whereas the Company pays the actual claims and is reimbursed by the insurance company. The 
insurance company also provides the stop loss for medical claims in excess of $325,000 and certain medical 
coverage to the shareholders of the Company.  

 

(15) Subsequent Events 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through May 2, 2018, the date 
in which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and determined there are no items 
to disclose. 

 



HENSEL PHELPS CONSTRUCTION CO.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Supplementary Schedule – Schedule of Operating Expenses

Year ended December 31, 2017

(In thousands)

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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RFP Requirement 
4.0.1.15  All objections, exceptions 

and observations regarding the 
specified Services and requirements 
collated in a separate document with 

regards to specific Section to which the 
offeror objects, takes exception(s), or 

provide(s) observation.

4.0.1.15. Exceptions and Observations
The Hensel Phelps/AMI team affirms and accepts the specified Services and 
requirements set forth in the Beaufort County School District RFP document with the 
exception of the following item. 

Regarding Section 7.1.23, Purchase Card transactions have an additional transaction fee 
expense of 3 to 4%. In the best interest of both parties, please consider direct deposit as 
the primary means for payment on this contract.

Hensel Phelps price is based on direct deposit payment. We cannot accept a purchasing 
credit card for payment. If the District desires to use a credit card for payment, our invoice 
price will reflect a markup convenience fee percent, in the amount withheld by the credit 
card company.  We would anticipate this to be in the 3% range.

Beaufort County School District 
Site Visit Photo
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RFP Requirement 
a. To be eligible for award, you must 
have the capability in all respects to 

perform fully the contract requirements 
and the integrity and reliability which 

will assure good faith performance. 
We may also consider a documented 

commitment from a satisfactory source 
that will provide you with a capability. 

We may consider information from any 
source at any time prior to award. We 

may elect to consider:

(i) key personnel, any predecessor 
business, and any key personnel of 

any predecessor business, including 
any facts arising prior to the date a 

business was established, and/or
(ii) any subcontractor you identify.

5.0.1 QUALIFICATIONS OF OFFEROR
A. Capability to Perform the Contract
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team excels at delivering and exceeding customer satisfaction 
every day by operating under their vision statement of “Delivering EXCELLENCE in all 
we do.” This vision, paired with Hensel Phelps | American Maintenance’s core values 
outlined below, assure good faith performance and make the proposed team stand out 
above the rest.

The project teams at Hensel Phelps/AMI are committed to establishing and maintaining a 
positive, pro-active and professional image of the department through exemplary 
customer service. This performance objective will be accomplished by developing a 
unified team of Custodial Services employees. The Hensel Phelps/AMI team members 
are highlighted in Section 4.0.1.5 Project Manager and Project Personnel for your 
review.

Hensel Phelps/AMI have been committed to quality for more than 80+ years. This team 
takes great pride in the Plan. Build. Manage. approach and remains confident in the 
knowledge of our success by fulfilling all of BCSD’s dynamic custodial needs.

Ownership
Hensel Phelps/AMI takes responsibility and ownership in all we do... treating your facilities 
as our own. 

Integrity
We work with integrity and are committed to honesty, building trust and doing the right 
thing.  We provide a workplace free from hazards.

Builder
We build facility operations plans, build and implement custodial programs alongside 
CMMS systems. From building excellent teams, our subject matter experts manage the 
built environment. 

Diversity
We embrace diversity. From our people, to our partners, to our projects — these 
differences strengthen our teams and our business.

Community
We support our community. We care for our employees, colleagues and neighbors like a 
family.

B. Evidence of Responsibility
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team will promptly provide all evidence of responsibility upon 
request of BCSD. 

C. Financial Capacity - Subsidiaries
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team affirms that the financial capabilities included in this RFP 
response represent the prime proposer and not an affiliated company or parent company. 

RFP Requirement 
b) You must promptly furnish 

satisfactory evidence of responsibility 
upon request. Unreasonable failure 

to supply requested information is 
grounds for rejection.

RFP Requirement 
c) Corporate subsidiaries are cautioned 

that the financial capability of an 
affiliated or parent company will not 

be considered in determining financial 
capability.
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RFP Requirement 
1. Contractor must presently be 

providing custodial services or have 
provided such services within the last 

18 months for a K-12 school district(s) 
or commercial business(es) with similar 

specifications.

5.0.2 QUALIFICATIONS - SPECIAL STANDARDS OF RESPONSIBILITY (1-12)
1. Recent Custodial Services for K-12 or Commercial Businesses with 
Similar Specifications
The high-performing professionals at Hensel Phelps /AMI know how to efficiently manage 
assets across multiple existing facilities at varying locations to improve functionality and 
service level.  Hensel Phelps/AMI along with the proposed team’s experience in the daily 
facilities custodial and maintenance operations of K-12 and other facilities within the last 
18 months are highlighted below and on the following pages. 

	� Avenues: The World School - Facility Operations & Maintenance / Custodial
	� Harlem Village Academies - Facility Operations & Maintenance / Custodial
	� Mount Sinai School District - Custodial 

Avenues: The World School 
(Maintenance / Custodial)
New York, New York

The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team, through relationships and proven 
expertise, are providing operations and maintenance, delivering technical and 
custodial services, and developing a capital program management plan for Avenues: 
The World School in Manhattan, New York. 

The private school and is comprised of 320,000 square feet in two buildings with 
1,300 students. The five-year contract is staffed by 33 Hensel Phelps Facility Services 
personnel (4 salaried and 29 hourly) delivering Facility Services between the hours of 
6:00 AM and midnight.

Client	
Avenues: The World School

Service Contract Duration 
05.01.2017 - 06.30.2022
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Harlem Village Academies’ (HVA) five-year facilities service contract with Hensel 
Phelps features the full operations and maintenance of a network of schools, including 
three elementary, two middle, and one high school educating nearly 2,000 students 
and approximately 150,000 square feet.  The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team 
provides full-time 24/7 support and will deliver technical, landscape, custodial services 
and develop a vendor management program for HVA’s K-12 program. 

The following Maintenance Services will be provided: Vendor Management, Interior 
and Exterior Building Maintenance and Repair, Interior and Exterior Custodial 
Services, Equipment & Systems Operation, Heating and Air Conditioning, Plumbing, 
Electrical Systems, Elevator Maintenance, Kitchen Equipment, Fire Protection 
Systems, and Preventive Maintenance. The Services Group will also coordinate 
outside vendor activities in close consultation with HVA leadership, ensuring that 
staff are aware of where and when outside vendors will be on-site for facilities 
maintenance. 

Harlem Village Academies
Facility Management (Maintenance & Custodial)
Harlem, New York

Client	
Harlem Village Academies

Service Contract Duration 
July 2019 - July 2024 (Five years)
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The Mount Sinai School District has a student population of 2,600 and covers an 
area of approximately six square miles. The District operates an elementary, middle 
and high school on a self-contained campus-like setting on 65 acres. The three 
buildings total 600,000 cleanable square feet. American Maintenance has 25 full-time 
employees who provide complete janitorial services.

Prior to 2001, janitorial services were provided by an in-house staff. American 
Maintenance has been successful in improving the level of cleanliness, reducing cost 
and establishing a value-added partnership with Mount Sinai School District.

Mount Sinai School District
Facility Management - Custodial
Mount Sinai, NY

Client 
Mount Sinai School District

Service Contract Duration 
Jan 2001 - Present
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2. Licenses and Permits
Hensel Phelps/AMI will be licensed and permitted to successfully deliver all work included 
in the RFP Scope of Work. All licenses and permits applicable to perform work for 
the Beaufort County School District will be submitted to the District upon award of the 
contract.

 

3. Staff Support to Provide Effective Quality Control Program and 
Training Program & Available Technical Support 
As customary on every project at Hensel Phelps/AMI, a comprehensive Site Specific 
Quality Control Program is implemented which includes the necessary staffing, such 
as a Quality Control Manager or Lead, for both quality control and training. Strict 
adherence to the QC Program will ensure compliance with all contract documents, 
necessary controls, supervision, inspections, testing, documentation, and applicable 
standards related to equipment, materials, parts, and functional performance. 

Available Technical Support and Resources 
With more than 2,000 staff experienced in all aspects of custodial services, the Hensel 
Phelps/AMI Team can accommodate short notice or accelerated workloads with the 
ability to respond to staffing needs very quickly. In addition, this team is backed by 
over 4,000 facility management and construction professionals to leverage specialized 
experience when needed. Hensel Phelps/AMI  is in a position to stay flexible for the entire 
BCSD team, leveraging both our extensive local resources and strong vendor / supplier 
relationships. 

The dedicated project team’s at Hensel Phelps/AMI will have technical support available 
on a daily basis. Furthermore, the Hensel Phelps/AMI team has a deep pool of resources 
to rally in the event it is needed to maintain business continuity.

COVID-10 Prepare, Respond, Recover Program 
Hensel Phelps/AMI is committed to provide assurance and establish confidence that 
proper cleaning, disinfection and infectious disease prevention work practices and 
controls are in place, properly maintained, and continuously improved as part of our 
COVID-19 Prepare, Respond and Recover program.  

This commitment is an integral part of us establishing an overall sense of direction and 
setting the principles for cleaning, disinfection, and infectious disease prevention within 
the facilities we serve. Throughout this document we’ll share our organizational objectives 
on how we tailor our program to the nature and scale of each facility, and associated 
activities. Our goal is to demonstrate our commitment to:

	� Protecting employees, clients, contractors, visitors, community and environment
	� Training and awareness programs for employees
	� Awareness campaigns for clients, employees and community.
	� Development of infection control programs, procedures, and technologies that protect 

employees, and clients.

RFP Requirement
2. Contractor shall be licensed and 

permitted to perform all work included 
in this RFP, including any special 

licenses and/or permits. Copies of 
all licenses and/or permits must be 

submitted with this RFP

RFP Requirement
3. Contractor must have staff support 
to provide an effective quality control 

program, a training program and make 
available technical support on a daily 

basis required by the District.
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In order to minimize or eliminate the risk of spread and contamination of infectious 
diseases, we have addressed our employees as well as the needs of clients and visitors 
through our COVID-19 Prepare, Respond and Recover framework. Examples of our 
program controls include, but are not limited to:

	� Handwash facilities
	� Hand sanitization and disinfection wipe stations
	� Automated cleaning and disinfection technologies (e.g., robotic floor cleaning and 

disinfection equipment)
	� Touchless facilities/technologies, for example hands-free: entry/exit, service 

acquisition, waste disposal, hand sanitizer stations
	� Surfaces, objects, and equipment designed for easy cleaning and long term 

antibacterial and antiviral properties
	� Physical barriers to prevent person to person contact 
	� Worker health program for employees (e.g., vaccination programs, fit for duty 

programs, temperature monitoring)
	� Instructions and information on practices and procedures for clients and visitors
	� Social distancing programs. (e.g., spacing of seating in a meeting, spacing of 

employees within work areas, line management)
	� Labeling and signage
	� Policies, rules, supervision/observation, schedules, and training.

As we continue to develop and learn from our practices, we’ll continue to assess our 
program and implement proven improvements, practices and controls as appropriate. 
Protecting the integrity of the entire BCSD portfolio and delivering superior 
services is Hensel Phelps/AMI’s top priority.

4. Equipment, Materials, Supplies, and Parts
Hensel Phelps/AMI self-performs all Custodial work. As customary on all projects, the 
Project Team invests in the proper equipment needed to support our customer’s needs.  
All common use items are kept on hand and all custodial supplies are scheduled two-
weeks prior to the work commencing. Utilizing Hensel Phelps’ and AMI’s deep-rooted 
network of suppliers, the Project Team has the ability to accommodate emergency 
equipment and supplies typically within 24-hours or less.

Hensel Phelps/AMI will provide all equipment, materials, supplies and parts to 
successfully deliver the BCSD’s Custodial services as described in the RFP scope of 
work. 

In addition, with more than 380 Hensel Phelps management and supervisory staff residing 
within the Southeast District area and experienced in all aspects of facility management, 
the Hensel Phelps/AMI team can accommodate short notice or accelerated workloads 
with the ability to respond to staffing needs very quickly. This team is backed by over 
4,600 custodial and construction professionals nationwide to leverage specialized 
experience when needed.

RFP Requirement
4. All equipment, materials, supplies, 

and parts (other than those specifically 
excluded in writing) to perform 

the services described will be the 
responsibility of the contractor. District 

reserves the right to not accept 
substitutions.
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5. Evidence of Financial Position for Past Three (3) Years
Hensel Phelps audited financial balance statements and American Maintenance reviewed 
financial balance statements for the past three years are provided on the following pages. 

RFP Requirement
5. Contractor must provide evidence 

of a sound financial position for the 
past three (3) fiscal/calendar years 
of the proposer, such as furnishing 

copies of formal financial statements 
or statements of financial integrity from 

each bank of whom the proposer was a 
business customer on letterhead of the 

financial institution and signed by an 
officer of the institution.
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6. Record of Successful Custodial Service Performance with  
School District or Commercial Business of at Least Three (3) Years
The Hensel Phelps Services Team is delivering full Facility Management services for the 
Avenues: The World School and the team has successfully performed three (3) of the five 
(5) year contract. Details of the program are presented below.

Avenues: The World School 
Facility Operations & Maintenance & Facility Management
New York, New York

The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team, through relationships and proven expertise, 
are providing operations and maintenance, delivering technical and custodial services, 
and developing a capital program management plan for Avenues: The World School in 
Manhattan, New York. 

The private school and is comprised of 320,000 square feet in two buildings with 1,300 
students. The five-year contract is staffed by 33 Hensel Phelps Facility Services personnel 
(4 salaried and 29 hourly) delivering Facility Services between the hours of 6:00 AM and 
midnight.

RFP Requirement
6. Contractor must have a record of at 

least three (3) years of a successful 
custodial service performance with 

a school district(s) or commercial 
business(es) similar in to the 

specifications.

Client	
Avenues: The World School

Service Years of Service
05.01.2017 - 06.30.2022

The Mount Sinai School District has a student population of 2,600 and covers an area 
of approximately six square miles. The District operates an elementary, middle and high 
school on a self-contained campus-like setting on 65 acres. The three buildings total 
600,000 cleanable square feet. American Maintenance has 25 full-time employees who 
provide complete janitorial services.

Prior to 2001, janitorial services were provided by an in-house staff. American 
Maintenance has been successful in improving the level of cleanliness, reducing cost and 
establishing a value-added partnership with Mount Sinai School District.

Client 
Mount Sinai School District

Service Contract Duration 
Jan 2001 - Present

Mount Sinai School District
Facility Management - Custodial
Mount Sinai, New York
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7. Hiring / Training & Compliance with Fair Labor Standards Act
Hensel Phelps/AMI mandates some of the highest quality standards for work being 
delivered and only employs experienced custodial personnel with experience working 
in the commercial / industrial markets. Hensel Phelps/AMI understands the complexity 
involved in implementing Custodial services seamlessly, as well as maintaining the 
standard of excellence that faculty, staff, students and guests expect of their environment. 
With these in mind, and reviewing BCSD’s expectations, goals, and objectives and how 
they impact both its short and long-term needs, Hensel Phelps/AMI continues to develop a 
management and staff selection / hiring process that uniquely addresses BCSD’s needs. 

Hensel Phelps/AMI is an equal opportunity employer and contractor. Hensel Phelps 
welcomes the opportunity to strengthen, grow and support its current workforce 
development program. All qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to their protected veteran status, nor will they be discriminated against on 
the basis of disability.

Our goal is to maximize operational performance, while embracing the staff with 
performance recognition, support and opportunity for advancement. The entire staff will be 
given the management, training, tools and support required to be successful. Working in a 
true team environment, this local group is supported by multiple team members to ensure 
the best work plan and approach. Through diligent adherence to tried-and-true programs 
and procedures, Hensel Phelps/AMI will ensure a standard of excellence that will fulfill all 
of the BCSD community’s expectations of its Custodial services.

8. Established Business Entity, Registered and Licensed to do Business 
in South Carolina
Hensel Phelps | American Maintenance is an established business entity. In addition, 
Hensel Phelps will be registered and licensed to do business and successfully execute 
Facilities Maintenance Management Services for BCSD in the State of South Carolina, 
and in following areas: 

	� Beaufort County and/or the City of Beaufort, 
	� Town of Bluffton, 
	� Town of Hilton Head Island, 
	� Town of Port Royal,
	� Jasper County

The Services team of professionals will submit proof of such registrations and licenses 
annually.  

9. Insurance Coverage
Hensel Phelps/AMI has included their Certificate of Insurance on the following page. 

RFP Requirement
7. The contractor will be responsible 

for hiring and training all required 
employees necessary for this contract 

and shall comply with the Fair Labor 
Standards Act.

Hours of training annually

RFP Requirement
8. Contractor must be an established 

business entity, registered and licensed 
to do business in Beaufort County 

and/or the City of Beaufort, the Town 
of Bluffton, the Town of Hilton Head 
Island, the Town of Port Royal and 

Jasper County in the State of South 
Carolina. Contractor must submit proof 

of such annually.

RFP Requirement
9. The successful contractor will have 

adequate insurance coverage to 
protect interests of the contractor as 

well as the school district including 
workers’ compensation coverage for 

employees of the contractor.
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10. Secured Equipment
Hensel Phelps/AMI employs a ZERO-accident safety culture on each project and uses 
our SAFE (Safety and Accountability For Everyone) Program to ensure that our 
safety culture is communicated during the course of each operation on all projects. Safety 
planning with a focus on both occupant safety and the safety of the customer operations 
and maintenance personnel is a top priority.

To this point, it is standard practice that the Hensel Phelps/AMI Project Team ensures 
that all equipment is safety secured during and after use to prevent any injuries to 
occupants, students, faculty, the general public, or any person not authorized to use the 
equipment. Hensel Phelps has the processes and procedures in place to protect and 
secure the proper functioning and safety of sites for Education campuses and business 
workplaces.

At Hensel Phelps/AMI, we hold ourselves accountable by adhering to our core values: 
“No job is so important or urgent that it cannot be performed the safe way.”

11. Daily Operations | Designated Contact Person

Designated Contact Person:
Daniel Major, CFM, FMP, Regional Manager
803.944.2252
DMajor@henselphelps.com

12. Quality Assurance Inspections | Designated Representative 

Designated Representative:
Scott Peterman, Regional/Transition Manager
757.784.5265
SPeterman@henselphelps.com

RFP Requirement
10. It is the responsibility of the 

contractor to secure all equipment 
during and after use to prevent injury to 

students or any person not authorized 
to use such equipment.

“Hensel Phelps has an exemplary
Safety Program and routinely  

recognizes their employees and 
subcontractors for safety. Their 
SAFE program has earned the 
praise of Lockheed Martin and 
the U.S. Air Force because it is 

proactive and allows any individual 
on-site to identify a potential safety 

hazard.”

Adrian Laffitte, Director,
Atlas Program, Lockheed Martin

Space Systems Company

RFP Requirement
11. Contractor shall designate, in 

writing, to the COO or designee, a 
contact person for daily Operations

RFP Requirement
12. The COO or designated 

representative may conduct, at any 
time, Quality Assurance inspections to 

assure contract compliance. Contractor 
must provide a manager to accompany 

the BCSD inspector.
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Submit the following information or 
documentation for you and for any 

subcontractor (at any tier level) that 
you identify pursuant to the clause 

titled Subcontractor – Identification. 
Err on the side of inclusion. You 

represent that the information provided 
is complete.

RFP Requirement
A. The general history and experience 

of the business in providing work of 
similar size and scope. Five (5) year 

minimum. 

5.0.3 QUALIFICATIONS - REQUIRED INFORMATION (A-L)
A. History and Experience in Providing Work of Similar Size & Scope
History of Hensel Phelps
Hensel Phelps Plan. Build. Manage., established in 1937, delivers premiere Facility 
Maintenance and Facility Management Solutions nationally for a variety of clients 
with specialization in serving the Education market. Celebrating 83 years in business, 
Hensel Phelps has grown to become one of the nation’s top total facility solutions provider 
including, developers, general contractors, construction managers and design-builders. 
Hensel Phelps’ approach creates significant benefits for their customers, improving 
operational performance while reducing operating costs and ultimately maximizing their 
asset portfolio.

Providing 24x7x365, single-source Facility Life Solutions, the Hensel Phelps Services 
team specializes in a variety of offerings and capabilities for their K-12 and Higher 
Education clients including Facility Management (FM), Facility Solutions, and Specialized 
Construction.

With regional offices strategically located in major cities throughout the United States, 
Hensel Phelps Services provides nationwide capability with consistent execution across 
all geographies. With over three-quarters of their business being with repeat clients, 
Hensel Phelps is a firm proud of their culture and delivers over $4.2 billion annually in 
services for their clients.

History of American Maintenance
American Maintenance has been providing custodial services since 1975. Over the 
years, their facilities service offerings have expanded to include grounds maintenance, 
handyman, events management, snow removal, administrative support and vendor 
management, giving them the ability to provide complete facilities management services 
for many of their clients.

American Maintenance’s growth in services has also expanded its corporate management 
expertise and total employees to over 2,000 nationally. This expansion has provided 
them the ability to hone their management skills and capabilities related to transitioning 
contracts and implementing operating plans for different environments including higher 
education. They specialize in labor harmony, teaming with specialized contractors and 
forming joint ventures with other service providers to meet the needs of their clients. This 
has extended to vendor management for their own needs and those on behalf of their 
clients.

American Maintenance’s specialties and capabilities range from custodial, landscaping 
and grounds maintenance, dormitory cleaning, and floor maintenance to snow removal, 
window cleaning and sustainable cleaning and COVID-19 preparedness.

Expertise in Providing Education & Facilities Management Services
Hensel Phelps has successfully delivered more than 128 Education projects nationwide 
totaling over $5.3 Billion and spanning more 26 million square feet. The entire Hensel 
Phelps/AMI Team has worked with a large number of education clients in support of their 
transitional solutions and custodial needs. The project team’s recent experience includes 
performing full Facilities Management services at Avenues: The World School; full 
Facilities Management services at Harlem Village Academies; and full Facilities Janitorial 
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Services at Mount Sinai School District, Stone Brook University, and St. John’s University 
to name a few. 

The Hensel Phelps/AMI team’s proven track record of success delivering a combination 
of facility maintenance, facility management, and transitional solutions at premiere 
academic institutions across the nation while exceeding client satisfaction is a direct result 
of their team’s execution capability and positive approach of successfully managing their 
customers core needs and property assets. Regardless of size, the lessons learned and 
tremendous experience at other reputable institutions have established the framework for 
their team’s ability of analyzing challenges and developing buildable solutions for world-
class Education clients. 

The projects presented below and on the following pages are examples within 
the Hensel Phelps/AMI Team portfolio that demonstrate the team’s high caliber 
experience relevant to the scope of services for this BCSD custodial project and are 
within the past five (5) years.

Harlem Village Academies’ (HVA) five-year facilities service contract with Hensel 
Phelps features the full operations and maintenance of a network of schools, including 
three elementary, two middle, and one high school educating nearly 2,000 students 
and approximately 150,000 square feet.  The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team 
will provide full-time 24/7 support and will deliver technical, landscape, custodial 
services and develop a vendor management program for HVA’s K-12 program. 

Harlem Village Academies
Facility Management
Harlem, New York

Client	
Harlem Village Academies

Facility Maintenance Service  
Completion
2024
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The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team, through relationships and proven 
expertise, are providing operations and maintenance, delivering technical and 
custodial services, and developing a capital program management plan for Avenues: 
The World School in Manhattan, New York. 

The private school and is comprised of 320,000 square feet in two buildings with 
1,300 students. The five-year contract is staffed by 33 Hensel Phelps Facility Services 
personnel (4 salaried and 29 hourly) delivering Facility Services between the hours of 
6:00 AM and midnight.

Avenues: The World School 
Facility Management
New York, New York

Client	
Avenues: The World School

Service Completion
2022
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Stony Brook University is one of four university centers in the SUNY system, with over 
2,000,000 square feet of space and 26,000 students. The University is divided into 
West and East campuses, spread over 1,000 acres, totaling more than 44 buildings. 

American Maintenance’s partnership with Stony Brook has expanded substantially 
since 2001 to include additional buildings and services. This is attributed the quality of 
services and our ability to respond quickly and effectively to client requests. 

Our facilities management services include custodial services (day porters/ night 
cleaning), green cleaning for LEED certified buildings, emergency services, snow 
removal, window cleaning and handyperson service. We provide custodial services for 
1,250,000 square feet of space for academic and administrative buildings, apartment 
and residential housing, indoor sports complex and an 8,300-seat stadium. We also 
provide special event cleaning (pre, post, and during), set-ups/ breakdowns/ moves 
as needed. All services are provided seven (7) days a week with multiple shifts.

SUNY Stony Brook University, 
Custodial Service
Stony Brook, New York

Client	
Stony Brook University

Custodial Service  
Completion
Current
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St. John’s University is a private, Roman Catholic, research university located in 
New York City. St. John’s is organized into five (5) undergraduate schools and six (6) 
graduate schools. In 2017, the University had a total of 22,000 students.

American Maintenance provides custodial services for both the athletic facilities 
and residential halls at St. John’s University. Athletic custodial services include pre, 
during and post event cleanup as well as daily maintenance of locker rooms, training 
room, coaches’ offices and meeting rooms. We maintain residence halls, inclusive 
of summer dorm room turnovers. This consists of turning over and preparing over 
1,000 suites in preparation for the summer camps, conferences, and an additional 
conversion for returning students in the Fall. American Maintenance also provides 
grounds services for the residential area. 

Additionally, American Maintenance handles 10,000 events per year requiring various 
types of setups in thirteen (13) different locations/venues. We support approximately 
2-3,000 mid-size to large scale events annually. The attendance ranges from 
100 to 5,000+ guests. The venue size varies from Ballroom to larger, including a 
professional-events arena, and a large capacity gymnasium.

St. John’s University, 
Custodial Service
Jamaica, New York

Client	
St. John’s University

Custodial Service  
Completion
Current
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B. Current Financial Position
Celebrating 83 years in business, Hensel Phelps is a financially strong corporation with a 
net worth of $388 million and a Dun & Bradstreet rating of 5A3, reflecting their excellent 
credit and financial stability. The “Best” insurance rating for Hensel Phelps’ surety is 
A++XV and the total bond program is $9 Billion.

Celebrating 42 years in business, American Maintenance LLC is a financially strong 
corporation with revenues totaling over $45 million annually with cash positive results at 
the end of the year total over $6 million. As a privately-held and operated company with 
more than 2,000 employees, American Maintenance provides integrated facility solutions 
to more than 200 clients and manages more than 60 million square feet of space on a 
daily basis.

Copies of both Hensel Phelps and American Maintenance partner firm’s financial 
reports for 2019, 2018, and 2017 included under the tab entitled, “Section 12 - 
Financial Stability” response.  

C. Financial Responsibility
Hensel Phelps Construction Co. (Hensel Phelps) is a financially strong general 
partnership with a net worth of $388 million and a Dun & Bradstreet rating of 5A3, 
reflecting their excellent credit and financial stability

Hensel Phelps’ financial strength and experience provide the ability to assume substantial 
financial risk when related to its project capabilities. Banking references may be reviewed 
by contacting the persons listed below.

Banking 
Bank of America Merrill Lynch
Mitchell Zmarzly, Officer, Treasury F&S Advisor – Service 
NC1-026-02-07, 900 West Trade St, Charlotte, NC 28202
Phone: 888.715.1000 Ext 66999

Hensel Phelps has done their banking with Bank of America for 13 years (since 2007). 

D. Insurance Coverage
Insurance certificates for liability and Worker’s Compensation naming Beaufort County 
School District as Additional Insured will be supplied upon project award.

RFP Requirement
B. Information reflecting the current 
financial position. Include the most 

current audited financial statement and 
audited financial statements for the last 

three (3) fiscal years.

RFP Requirement
C. Banking Reference: 
Name of Bank Officer: 

Phone: 
How many years with this bank? 

RFP Requirement
d. Prior to contract commencement, 

the Certificate of Insurance for liability 
and Workers’ Compensation naming 

the District as Additional Insured shall 
be provided to the District. See Section 

7.1.4 for required coverage
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E. Comparable Contracts
The following table provides a detailed summary of the representative listing of  three (3) 
most recent and relevant services contracts, along with customer references, who have 
entrusted their comprehensive Custodial services needs to Hensel Phelps. | American 
Maintenance. 

Three (3) Most Recent, Comparable Contracts & Customer Contacts

Comparable Contract | Customer Reference No. 1
Name of School District / 
Customer Avenues World Holdings, LLC

Contact Person and Title

Contact Email Address

Phone Number

Dates of Project / Years of 
Service 05.01.2017 - 06.30.2022

Detailed Narrative Statement

The Hensel Phelps Facility Services team, through 
relationships and proven expertise, are providing 
operations and maintenance, delivering technical and 
custodial services, and developing a capital program 
management plan for Avenues: The World School in 
Manhattan, New York. 

The private school and is comprised of 320,000 
square feet in two buildings with 1,300 students. The 
five-year contract is staffed by 33 Hensel Phelps 
Facility Services personnel (4 salaried and 29 hourly) 
delivering Facility Services between the hours of 6:00 
AM and midnight.

RFP Requirement
e) A detailed, narrative statement 
listing the three (3) most recent, 
comparable contracts (including 

contact information) which have been 
performed.

Avenues: The World School
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F. List of Similar Projects within the Past Three Years
The Hensel Phelps/AMI team approach to Custodial services creates significant benefits 
for the District, including the following components they anticipate realizing for the 
BCSD:

The Hensel Phelps/AMI  teams’ goal is to provide agile and scalable solutions 
designed to meet current and future needs for BCSD.

The projects highlighted below are relevant examples within the Hensel Phelps/AMI  
portfolio that demonstrate the team’s high caliber experience similar to the Custodial 
project for Beaufort County School District. These projects include:

	� Avenues: The World School, Facility Management
	� Harlem Village Academies, Facility Management
	� Stanford University, Facility Management Consulting and Transitional Solutions 
	� Cornell Tech, Operations & Maintenance Program
	� State University of New York (SUNY) – Fashion Institute of Technology (FIT), 

Operations & Maintenance Program, FM Consulting 
	� Bethune-Cookman University, Transitional Solutions 
	� SUNY Stony Brook, Custodial Services
	� St. John’s University, Custodial Services
	� SUNY Nassau Community College, Custodial Services
	� SUNY Westchester Community College, Custodial Services
	� SUNY Old Westbury
	� SUNY Upstate Medical University
	� U.S. General Services Administration, Social Security Administration (SSA) National 

Support Center (NSC), Facility Management and Operations & Maintenance
	� U.S. Southern Command Headquarters (SOUTHCOM), Operations & Maintenance

RFP Requirement
f) A list of similar projects for which 
Offeror has performed, at any time 

during the past three (3) years, 
services substantially similar to those 

sought with this solicitation. Err on 
the side of inclusion; by submitting an 
Offer, Offeror represents that the list is 
complete. School District experience is 

desired.

We needed a best in class facilities 
partner. We are delighted to be 

associated with an employee 
owned and operated company 

[Hensel Phelps] that focuses on 
their customers’ and employees’ 

satisfaction.”

Matt Scott,
Director of Operations and

Administration
Avenues – The World School
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G. Industry Standards and Best Practices
Hensel Phelps’ corporate culture and operating philosophy are the cornerstones of their 
Plan. Build. Manage. success.  As detailed below, the vision and core values at Hensel 
Phelps provide a clear plan to follow and align with their high quality standards and 
best practices that the Hensel Phelps/AMI team is known for in the industry.  

Hensel Phelps/AMI Vision:
Delivering EXCELLENCE in all we do.
This is not only our long-term goal but what we strive for each day. 

Hensel Phelps/AMI  Core Values:
Ownership, Integrity, Builder, Diversity and Community.
These guiding principles define our culture and guide the project teams every day.

Hensel Phelps/AMI’s success is based on the commitment to their people, processes, 
partnership, and technology. By delivering on their promises, Hensel Phelps/AMI has 
received national attention and multiple awards of distinction for best practices, 
good stewardship with best-in-class recruitment policies, retention practices, and training 
and mentoring programs.

Overall Approach Best Practices
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Custodial Program is a thorough and stress-tested operational 
approach that creates environments that are inspection-ready at all times. The Hensel 
Phelps/AMI library of protocols is supported by a strong catalog of supplies and equipment 
with a backbone of technology. These programs are precise and tightly focused, with an 
awareness of the importance of aesthetics, and a commitment to quality assurance.

RFP Requirement
g) Must have a clear understanding of 
industry standards and best practices.

Hallmarks of the Hensel Phelps | American Maintenance Team’s Program and Best Practices

Precise

For each and every individual task, Hensel Phelps/AMI  has established best practice-based guidelines 
and steps in the most effective and streamlined way, and the teams reinforce those steps in weekly 
training. Adhering to their proven, optimal methodology for every task provides the Hensel Phelps/AMI  
program with substantial gains in productivity and employee satisfaction.

Aesthetics

The maintenance programs actively works to promote an overall sense of good condition. The teams’ 
maintenance, grounds / landscaping, and custodial employees work on the aesthetic details of an area 
to create a crisp, welcoming feel in common areas and classrooms. With this extra care, students, 
faculty, and visitors will report greater satisfaction and a better overall impression of the Beaufort 
County School District. 

Validated

Daily, the Hensel Phelps/AMI supervisors inspect performance, deliver feedback and on-the-spot 
training, and walk the facility to review every detail, address every issue, and ensure satisfaction with 
the programs.

The District will be in the hands of seasoned specialists and dedicated hourly staff whose main purpose 
is to keep BCSD’s facilities in world-class shape, while keeping an eye on aesthetics. This program, 
combined with tailored technology and the best possible equipment, is proven and the District’s site visit 
to a nearby campus strongly encouraged. 
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At Hensel Phelps/AMI, the teams make it a goal of not merely adopting existing 
practices, but to implement “best practices.” Effective implementations that meet or 
exceed expectations is the optimum goal of Hensel Phelps/AMI. It can only be assured 
by careful planning and strong communications. Hensel Phelps/AMI is committed to 
collaborating with BCSD to build strategic and actionable plans that deliver on their 
facility and operational goals. The Hensel Phelps/AMI team will provide the framework, 
process discipline, tools and training to equip both new and transitioned team members to 
effectively manage the contract.

H. Certifications, Licenses and Permits, and Evidence
Hensel Phelps/AMI will be licensed and permitted to successfully deliver all work included 
in the RFP Scope of Work. All licenses and permits applicable to perform work for 
the Beaufort County School District will be submitted to the District upon award of the 
contract.

I. Laws, Statutes, Ordinances, Rules and Regulations &  
State of South Carolina Compliances
The Hensel Phelps/AMI team of professionals have the current knowledge of all 
applicable local, state, and federal codes, licenses, and certificates needed to successfully 
execute Custodial Services for BCSD in the State of South Carolina.

J. Capacity to Acquire all Bonds, Escrows or Insurance
Since 1958, the bonding requirements of Hensel Phelps have been placed with Travelers 
Casualty and Surety Company. Travelers has never been required to perform under any 
kind of a bond issued on behalf of the company. The “Best” insurance rating for Hensel 
Phelps’ surety is A++XV. The total bond program is $9 Billion. 

Hensel Phelps is authorized to bid contracts with performance and payment bond 
obligations up to $350 Million per project.  Hensel Phelps’ Dun & Bradstreet number is 06-
332-2085 and is rated 5A3, reflecting their excellent credit and financial stability.

RFP Requirement
h) Offeror shall provide with their 

proposal copies of all appropriate 
certifications, licenses and permits, 
as well as evidence to support the 

documentation.

RFP Requirement
i) Must have knowledge of and comply 

with all currently applicable, and as 
they become enacted during the 

contract term, federal, state and local 
laws, statutes, ordinances, rules and 

regulations. All laws of the State of 
South Carolina, whether substantive or 
procedural, shall apply to the contract, 

and all statutory, charter, and ordinance 
provisions that are applicable to 

public contracts in the District shall be 
followed with respect to the contract.

RFP Requirement
j) Must have the capacity to acquire 
all bonds, escrows or insurance as 

outlined in the terms of this RFP.
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K. Litigation 
Hensel Phelps/AMI has never been terminated for cause, suspended, or debarred from 
bidding on or completing a project. Hensel Phelps/AMI is not currently involved in any 
formal dispute resolution proceedings:

RFP Requirement
k) List of failed projects, suspensions, 
debarments, and significant litigation.
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$ / Year $8 million per year

Service Provided

Provide custodial services (day porters/ night 
cleaning), green cleaning for LEED certified buildings, 
emergency services, snow removal, window cleaning 
and handyperson service. We provide custodial 
services for 1,250,000 square feet of space for 
academic and administrative buildings, apartment 
and residential housing, indoor sports complex and 
an 8,300-seat stadium. We also provide special event 
cleaning (pre, post, and during), set-ups/ breakdowns/ 
moves as needed. All services are provided seven (7) 
days a week with multiple shifts.

Customer Reference No. 4
Name of School District / 
Customer Mount Sinai School District

Contact Person and Title

Contact Email Address

Phone Number
Dates of Project / Years of 
Service 2001 - Present

$ / Year $630,000 per year

Service Provided

The Mount Sinai School District has a student 
population of 2,600 and covers an area of 
approximately six square miles. The District operates 
an elementary, middle and high school on a self-
contained campus-like setting on 65 acres. The 
three buildings total 600,000 cleanable square feet. 
American Maintenance has 25 full-time employees 
who provide complete janitorial services.

Prior to 2001, janitorial services were provided by 
an in-house staff. American Maintenance has been 
successful in improving the level of cleanliness, 
reducing cost and establishing a value-added 
partnership with Mount Sinai School District.

Mount Sinai School District
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Customer Reference No. 5
Name of School District / 
Customer St. John’s University

Contact Person and Title

Contact Email Address

Phone Number
Dates of Project / Years of 
Service April 2017 - Present

$ / Year $1.7 million per year

Service Provided

Custodial services for both the athletic facilities and 
residential halls. Athletic custodial services include 
pre-, during and post-event cleanup, as well as daily 
maintenance of locker rooms, training room, coaches’ 
offices and meeting rooms. Maintain residence 
halls, inclusive of summer dorm room turnovers. 
This consists of turning over and preparing over 
1,000 suites in preparation for the summer camps, 
conferences, and an additional conversion for 
returning students in the Fall. Also provide grounds 
services for the residential area.  

Handle 10,000 events per year requiring various types 
of setups in thirteen (13) different locations / venues. 
Support approximately 2-3,000 midsize to large-scale 
events annually. The attendance ranges from 100 to 
5,000+ guests. The venue size varies from Ballroom 
to larger, including a professional-events arena, and a 
large capacity gymnasium.

St. John’s University
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5.2 Subcontractor Identification
Hensel Phelps/AMI has no plans to subcontract any part of their services that would 
exceed 10% of our final presented cost.  The Hensel Phelps/AMI team would continue 
to utilize the contractors that perform services at the account now and that may have 
current agreements with the county.  Hensel Phelps/AMI would evaluate their existing 
subcontractors, and offer service improvements and/or cost reductions as realized.

RFP Requirement 
5.2 Subcontractor Identification

If you intend to subcontract with 
another business for any portion of 
the work and that portion exceeds 
10% of your price, your offer must 

identify that business and the portion of 
work that they are to perform. Identify 
potential Subcontractors by providing 
the business’ name, address, phone, 

taxpayer identification number, and 
point of contact. In determining your 

responsibility, the BCSD may evaluate 
your proposed Subcontractors.

Hensel Phelps’ Director of Supplier 
Diversity Brad Lewis accepts 2018 

Dwight D. Eisenhower Award for 
Excellence given by U.S. Small 

Business Administration. 

This is the third time Hensel 
Phelps has been honored with 

the prestigious award, During the 
National Small Business Week 
celebrated in Washington D.C., 
SBA Acting Administrator Daryl 

Hairston stated, “Your hard work, 
innovative ideas, and dedication to 
your community have made you a 
success in your business. SBA is 

pleased to recognize you for these 
achievements. You can be proud 
of the role you are playing in our 

Nation’s economic recovery.”
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W/MBE Compliance 9.0 Attachments to Solicitation
The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team has the resources to complete all scopes of this Custodial 
Services RFP with their own employees, equipment, materials, and supplies. 

If subcontracting opportunities are identified at a future date, the Hensel Phelps/AMI Team 
will immediately contact BCSD and commits to performing a future Good Faith Outreach 
Effort through solicitation of W/MBE firms in South Carolina. At that time, the Hensel 
Phelps/AMI Corporate Director of Diversity, Brad Lewis, CCA, and the Project Manager 
will work with the District’s stakeholders to maximize the inclusion of local trade partners. 

The Hensel Phelps/AMI Team consistently exceeds small and disadvantaged business 
goals and is committed to maintaining and facilitating business equity while providing 
opportunities for W/MBE firms on all projects. Hensel Phelps is a leader in the Small 
Business community, having received the prestigious Dwight D. Eisenhower Award 
from the US Small Business Administration in 2018, 2011, and 2009. Less than 2% of 
large contractors / facility providers will earn this recognition for their utilization of minority, 
women-owned, small businesses as suppliers and subcontractors.

Hensel Phelps/AMI’s commitment extends beyond small and disadvantaged 
business utilization and the project team members focus on true subcontractor 
engagement with the local community to develop relationships, increase 
participation, and build capacity.

As required in the RFP, a Business Enterprise Utilization Report in the form provided on 
the following page will be submitted by Hensel Phelps/AMI as a part of the contract with 
BCSD.

An executed Statement of Intent is provided following the Business Utilities Report.  
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Hensel Phelps | American Maintenance
Business Enterprise Utilization Report

Subcontractor 
Name

Gender Group* Address Phone # E-Mail

Janex AABE 1100 Traders Cross
Bluffton, SC 29909

800.916.4728 sales@janexservicesllc.com

Diverse Facility 
Solutions

AABE 12838 S. Cicero Ave
Alsip, IL 60803

773.582.1022 m.zagorac@dfscompany.com

	� AABE - African-American Business Enterprise
	� HBE - Hispanic Business Enterprise
	� ABE - Asian -American Business Enterprise
	� WBE - Woman Business Enterprise
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Statement of Intent 
 
We, the undersigned have prepared and submitted all the documents required for this 
project.  We have prepared these documents with a full understanding of the Beaufort 
County School District’s goal to ensure equal opportunities in the proposed work to be 
undertaken in performance of this project.  Specifically, the BCSD seeks to encourage 
and promote on an inclusionary basis contracting opportunities without regard to the race, 
gender, national origin or ethnicity of the ownership or management of any business and 
that it is an equal opportunity employer and contracting entity.  We certify that the 
representations contained in the Minority/Woman Business Enterprise (M/WBE) 
Utilization Report, which we have submitted with this solicitation, are true and correct as 
of this date.  We commit to undertake this contract with the Minority/Woman Business 
Utilization Report we have submitted, and to comply with all non-discrimination 
provisions of the Minority/Woman Business Enterprise Program in the performance of 
this contract. 
 
 
 
Signature 
 
 
Date 
 
 
 
Name: _________________________________________ 
 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
 
Project: _________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

09.08.2020

Edwin Glen Miller

Managing  Member

Beaufort County School District Custodial Services 21-005






